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The year which has just closed has been a strange and eventful one in the
history of the agency of the Sioux of the Mississippi. It began in hope, ap-
parent prosperity, and happiness, and closed amid disappointments and blood.

To furnish to the government and the public a clear, just, and detailed account
of the agency for this eventful year; to set forth the causes which gave rise to,
and to trace the recent and although smothered, yet existing rebellion, or mur-
degous raid, from itg incipicney to its present situation, although clearly my duty,
is yet an undertaking which 1 n£proach not without many misgivings.

The leading intercsts involved—the welfare of two races, the whites and the
Indians—dictate that my report should be just, fair, and full in the premises,
and logically true in conclusions.

The responsibility of the work, and the yect imperfect and crude state of the
facts and data, are my excuse for having delayed my report so far beyond the
usual time.

In this case, while I have endeavored and desired to be quick and prompt,
yet I had rather be aceurate and uscful, if in my power, than meet the require-
ments of the department in having my report published in the “reports.” = Not
yet, indced, has the time arrived to write this history. 'The facts, or rather
reports of facts, are in a confused and imperfect state. The atrocities and
savage outrages of the Indians are yet too fresh and recent to entirely free one’s
mind of the bias which must necessarily give a coloring to the recital of the
events which have crowded upon us with such fearful rapidity in so short a time.

An interested party, having personal knowledge by being myself a witness

to the murders, outrages, and atrocities committed, and the cftect on me of having
had my own family and friends, as I supposed, for eleven days exposed to the
same kind of outrages and horrible indignities to which I knew others were
exposed, this terrible suspense so exasperated my feelings as to place me in
anything but a fit condition to do justice to the subject on hand.
+ Now, however, that I know and realize that my family and many friends have
escaped as from the jaws of hell and death, and arc safe and free'from outrage;
that time for thought and reflection has elapsed, when, for a time, a lull in the
fierce storm exists, I venture on the work before me. And, first, an account of
the ordinary affairs and transactions of the agency will be attempted.

My books, memoranda, bills, and accounts having been nearly all lost or de-
stroyed at the commencement of the outbreak, I have been obliged to gatheru
such information as I could from persons cognizant of the facts. This, addes
to my own recollection of the transactions, aided by scraps of paper and books
saved from the wreck, is all I have to depend upon. 1 have been unremitting
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in my endeavors to collect all the information available, and careful to digest
and arrange it.

I visited, as soon as possible, the reservations with Colonel (now Brigadier
General) Sibley’s command, and remained there from September 22 to November
8, collecting all the information which I possibly could. Hence, in regard to
this part of my report, while it cannot, of course, be accurate, yet it will be
sufficiently correct for all practical purposes. Neither can it be as full in details
as desirable, as any details in regard to which I am uncertain I shall omit,
content to be correct, as far as I can be, rather than full, and in all probability
mistaken.

The autumn of 1861 closed upon us rather unfavorably. The crops were
light, especially was this the case with the Upper Sioux; they had little or
nothing. As heretofore communicated to the department, the cut-worms de-
stroyed all the corn of the'Sissitons, and greatly injured the crops of the
Wahpetons, and Medewakantons, and Wahpecutahs. For these latter 1 pur-
chased, on credit, in anticipation of the agricultural and civilization funds, large

uantities of pork®and flour at carrent rates, to support them during the winter.

arly in the autumn, in view of the necessitous situation of the Sissitons, I
made a requisition on the department for the sum of 85,000, out of the special
funds for the relief of * poor and destitute Indians;” and in anticipation of
receiving this money I made arrangements to feed the old and infirm men and
the women and children of these people. 1 directed the Rev. S. R. Riggs to
make the selection and furnish me a list. He carefully did this, and we ted in
an economical, yea, even parsimonious way, about 1,500 of these people from
the middle of December until nearly the first of April. We had hoped to get
them off on their spring hunt earlier, but a tremendous and unprecedented snow
storm, during the last days of February, prevented.

In response to my requisition I reccived $3,000, and expended very nearly
£5,000, Yeaving a deficiency not properly chargeable to the regular funds of
about $2,000.

These people, it is believed, must have perished had it not been for this
scanty assistance. In addition to this, the regular issues were made to the far-
mer Indians in payment for their labor. These were kept at work during the
winter in making rails, getting out and hauling to the mill saw-logs for their
individual use, and in taking care of their families and stock.

In the month of August, 1861, the superintendents of farms were directed to
have ploughed in the fall, in the old, public and neglected private ficld, a suffi-
cient quantity of land to provide plantings for such Indians as could not be
provided with oxen and implements. In pursuance of this direction, there were
ploughed, at rates ranging from $1 50 to $2 per acre, according to the nature
of the work by tcams and men hired for the purpose, for the Lower Sioux about
500 acres, and for the Upper Sioux about 475 acres. There were also, at the
same time, ploughed by the farmer Indians and the department teams about
250 acres for the Lower, and about 325 acres for the Upper Sioux, This fall
ploughing was continued until the frost prevented its further prosccution. It
was done to facilitate the work of the agricultural department, and to kill the
worms which had proved so injurious the previous year.

In November, ‘1861, the new stone warchouse, mentioned in my last annual
report, was completed and occupied. 1t proved to be, as anticipated, a safe,
convenient, and substantial structure.

The scarcity of timber on the reservations induced me to have all the fallen
wood and _tree tops cut up into firewood for the use of the employ(s, mills, and
brick-yards Lefore the snow had fallen. 'We thus secured on the upper reser-
vation between five and six hundred cords, at a cost of $2 55 per cord, and on
the lower reservation about two hundred corde, at a cost of S1 23 per cord,
without injury to a single standing or growing trce. I also made contracts for
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stocking both saw-mills with logs and shingle blocks. In pursuance of which,
there was delivered at the lower mill 650,000 feet of saw-logs, and 128 cords of
shingle blocks and at the upper mill 178,000 feet of saw-logs.

The carpenter shops at both agencies were supplied with lumber for the
manufacture and repair of sleds, wagons, and other farming utensils. Sheds were
erected for the protection of their cattle and utensils of the department, and the
Farmer Indians, assisted by the department carpenters, erected stables, pens,
and other out-houses for the protection of their cattle, horses, and utensils.

The upper saw-mill was closed about the first of November, 1861, the stock
of logs having been exhausted. The lower saw-mill was kept in operation gen-
erally during the winter, and the corn-mills attached to both saw-mills were
put in order and used when required. Hay, grain, and other supplies were pro-
vided. and, in short, everything was done which the means at command of the
agent would justify.

The work of the autumn having been thus closed, I set about making prep-
arations for the work of the next spring and summer, and in directing the work
of the winter. I made calculations to erect during the sumrier and autumn of
1862 at least fifty dwelling-houses for Indian families, at an estimated average
cost of $300 each, and also to aid the farmer Indians in erecting as many ad-
ditional dwellings as possible, not to exceed thirty or forty, and to have planted
for the Lower Sioux at least twelve hundred acres, and for the Upper Sioux at
least thirteen hundred acres of crops, and to have all the land planted, except
that at Big Stone lake, enclosed by a fence.

To carry out these calculations, early in the winter the superintendents of
farms, the blacksmiths, the carpenters, and the superintendent of schools were
directed to furnish estiinates for the amount of agricultural implements, horses,
oxen, wagons, carts, building material, iron, steel, tools, and supplies, needed to
carry on successfully their several departments for one year from the opening
of navigation in the spring of 1862.

These estimates were prepared and furnished me about the 1st of February.
In accordance with these estimates I proceeded to purchase, in open market,
the articles and supplies recommended.

I made the estimates for one year, and the purchases accordingly, in order to
secure the benefit of transportation by water in the spring, and thus avoid the
delays, vexations, and extra expense of transportation by land in the fall. The
bulk of the purchases were made with the distinct understanding that payment
would be made out of the funds belonging to the quarter in which the goods,
implements, or supplies were expended.

During the month of March, 1862, I purchased 16 breaking ploughs, 16-inch
steel ; 240 cross ploughs, 12-inch steel; 144 corn ploughs, 10-inch steel; 72
corn ploughs, 8-inch steel; 244 hoes, garden, steel; 350 hoes, planters, steel
175 hoes, prairie, steel ; 300 mowing scythes, steel ; 300 snaths, 250 hay forks,
60 shovels, 100 spades, 3 grain cradles, 25 sets plough harness, 45 ox carts,
4 wagons, 75 ox yokes, 82 ox chains, 12 wheelbarrows, 285 bushels seed corn,
30 bushels sced wheat, 3,690 bushels seed potatoes, 10 bushels seed beauns,
10 bushels reed peas, and proportionate quantities of turnip, rutabaga, pump-
kin, squash, beet, onion, tomato, carrot, parsnip, cabbage, and other garden
seeds.

I also purchased, partly in the autumn of 1861 and in the winter and spring
of 1862, seventy-nine yoke of oxen, and ten or fifteen odd oxen to match the
same number of single oxen in the hands of farmer Indians, and during the
summer I purchased 47 cows and calveg, and 88 sheep, and 4 horses.

I also purchased 250 glazed window sarh, 48 doors, 40 kegs nails, 15 spikes,
125 door locks and latches, 175 butts, 18 M feet pine lumber, assorted ; 300 hats,
325 summer coatg, 600 pants, 300 shirts, 16 sacks coffee, 400 pounds tea, 10
barrels salt, 22 barrels sugar, 50 casks dried apples, 8 boxes candles, 75 boxes
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soap, 1 barrel vinegar, 2 barrels molasses, 2 barrels rice, 4 barrels lard, 1 barrel
machine oil, 28 tons iron, 3 tons steel, 1 set of blacksmith’s and part of two
sets of carpenter’s tools, besides a large quantity of tubs, buckets, churns,
hardware, queensware, and other household and kitchen furniture too various
for detail in this report. The foregoing goods were all delivered at the lower
agency, by boats, in good order.

During the winter the lower farmer Indlans made 18,000 rails and posts, and
the upper farmer Indians 12,000 rails and posts.

Most of the seed-corn above mentioned, and some of the seed-potatoes, were
obtained from the farmer Indians in exchange for goods and provisions from the
warehouge. 'Thus it will be seen that, in the spring of 1862, there were on hand
supplies and material sufficient to carry us through the coming year. Besides
what is above set forth, we had on hand nearly 200,000 brick, which were
manufactured the previous autumn. Thus, to all appearance, the spring season
opened propitiously.

To carry out my original design of having as much as possible planted for
the Indians at Big Stone lake and Lac qui Parle as early in the month of May,
1862, as the condition of the swollen streams would permit, I visited Lac qui
Parle, Big Stone lake, going as far as North Island, in Lake Traverse, having
with me Antoine Freniere, United States interpreter, Dr. J. L. Wakeficld,
physician of the Upper Sioux, and Nelson Givens, assistant agent. '

At Lac qui Parle we found the Indians willing and anxious to plant. I in-
quired into their conditions and wants, and made arrangements to have them
supplied with sceds and implements,and directed Amos W. Huggins, the school-
teacher there, to aid and instruct them in their work, and to make the proper
distribution of the seeds and implements furnished, and placed at his disposal
an ox team and wagon and two breaking teams, with instructions to devote his
whole time and attention to the supecrintendence and instruction of the resident
Indians throughout the planting season and until the crops were safely cultiva-
ted and harvested. I likewise found the Indians at Big Stone lake and Lake
Traverse very anxious to plant, but without any means whatever so to do. I
looked over their fields in order to see what could be done. After having in-
quired into the whole matter, I instructed Mr. Givens to remain at Big Stone
lake and superintend and direct the agricultural operations of the scason, and
to remain there until it was too late to plant any more. Iplaced at his disposal
ten double plough tcams, with men to operate them, and ordered forward at
once one hundred bushels of secd-corn and five hundred bushels of seed-pota-
toes, with pumpkin, squash, turnip, and other sceds in reasonable proportion,
together with a sufficient supply of ploughs, hoes, and other implements for the
Indiang, and a blacksmith to repair breakages, and directed him to see that
every Indian and every Indian horse or pony did as much work as was pos-
gible. The necessary supplies were also furnished.

Thus instructed, with the interpreter and physician, I started for the agency,
and arrived there on the 24th day of May, having been absent fifteen days.
On my way to the agency I found that Mr. Huggins had been assiduously at-
tending to his work at i:ac qui Parle. The Indians were all at work. "T'he
supplies had all arrived, and everything promised well.

On my way down to the agency 1 visited the plantings of Ta-ham-pi-h’da,
(Rattling Moccasin,) Ma-za-sha, (Red Iron,) Mah-pi-ya-wi-chasta, (Cloud Man,)
and Rattling Cloud, and found that Mr. Goodell, superintendent of farms for
the Upper Sioux, had, in accordance with my instructions, been faithfully at-
tending to the wants of these bands. He had supplied them with implements
and seeds, and I left them at work. Onm nrrivaY at the agency I found that
the farmer Indians residing thereabouts had, in my absence, been industriously
at work, and had not only completed their ploughing, but bad planted very
extensively. The next day after my arrival at the agency I visited each farmer

25 1
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Indian at the Yellow Medicine, and congratulated him on his prospects for a
good crop, and spoke to him such words of encouragement as occurred to me.

The next day I proceeded to the lower agency, and then taking with me
Mr. A. H. Wagner, the superintendent of farms for the Lower Sioux, I went
around to each planting, and for the second time visited each farmer Indiau, and
found that, in general, my instructions had been carried out. The ploughin
was generally completed in good order, and the planting nearly all done, an
many of the farmer Indians were engaged in repairing old and making new
fence. I was pleased and gratified, and o told the Indians, the prospect was
80 encouraging.

About the 1st of July I visited all the plantings of both the Upper and
Lower Sioux, except those at Big Stone lake, and found in nearly every in-
stance the prospect for good crops very hopeful indeed.

The superintendent of farms, the male school-teachers, and all the employés
assisting them, had done their duty. About this time Mr. Givens had returned
from Big Stone lake and reported to me his success there.

From'all I knew and all I thus learned, I was led to the belief that we would
have no starving Indians to feed the next winter, and little did I dream of the
unfortunate and terrible outbreak which in a short time burst upon us.

Early in the spring the saw mills were ordered to be fully manned and to cut
all the lumber possible, under the direction of Mr. Nairn, Lower Sioux carpen-
ter.

The contractor, Mr. De Camp, went industriously to work and kept the mills
running to the full extent of their capacity. At the same time I directed Mr.
Ryder, the contractor for brick making, to proceed to work and manufacture
brick as fast as he could. He promptly did so, and by the middle of July had
burned in good order a kiln of over two hundred thousand exeellent brick, and
up to the time of the outbreak he had made some one hundred thousand bricks,
which were either placed in a new kiln or piled up in the yard. The necessity
for brick at the lower agency, and the apparent impossibility of finding good
brick-clay, induced me early in the season to offer a reward to any one who
would discover such clay. A man named , after diligent search,
discovered an excellent bed of clay, very mear the surface of the earth, and
about four feet in thickness, and in an eligible location.

I at once determined to make a brickyard there, and ordered the discoverer
of the clay to dig a well, as.there was no water at the place, and had the lum-
ber and other necessary things prepared to have bricks made at once. The
well was just finished, and we were ready to commence work on the brick-yard,
on the fatal 18th day of August, when the unfortunate discoverer of the clay was
assassinated at his work finishing the well, by the Indians for whose benefit he
was laboring. In June, 1862, 1 concluded a contract with H. G. Billings for
cutting and delivering 300 tons of hay, at $1 85 per ton, for the Lower Sioux,
and 250 tons, at $1 95 per ton, for the Upper Sioux. At the time of the out-
break he had cut and put into cock all the bay contracted for the Lower Sioux,
and on the morning of the eventful 18th of August he had made arrangements
to haul and stack it at the hay yard of the Lower Sioux agency, preparatory
to his going to the Yellow Medicine to fulfil his contract there.

During the winter of 1862 there were split, and delivered under my direction,
2,000 wagon spokes for the Lower Sioux, and 2,800 spokes for the Upper Sioux ;
and there were made and delivered 200 ox-bows for the Lower, and 104 ox-
bows for the Upper Sioux.

In the fall of 1861 a good and substantial school-room and dwelling, a store-
house and blacksmith shop, were completed at Lac qui Parle, and about the firsg
of Novembe rMr. Amos W. Huggins and his family occupied the dwelling, and,
assisted by Miss Julia La Frambois, prepared the school-root, and devoted their
whole time to teaching such Indian children as they could induce to attend the
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achool. The warchouse was supplied with provisions, which Mr. Huggins was
instructed to issue to the children and their parents at his discretion. Here
it may be permitted me to remark that Mr. Huggins, who was born and raised
among the Sioux, and Miss La Frambois, who was a Sioux mixed blood, were
two persons entirely capable, and in every respect (Hl:aliﬁed for the discharge of
the daties of their situation, than whom the Indians had no more devoted friends.
They lived among the Indians of choice, because they thought they could be
beneficial to them. Mr. Higgins exercised nothing but kindness towards them.
He fed them when hungry, clothed them when naked, attended them when sick,
and advised and cheered them in all their difficulties. He was intelligent, indus-
trious, energetic, and good ; and yet he was one of the first victims of the out-
break—shot down like a dog by the very Indians whom he had so long and
8o well served.

The blacksmith shop was supplied with tools and iron, and a careful black-
smith placed in charge.

Earry in the spring there was made and delivered at the lower agency black-
smith shop 2,950 bushels of coal, and at the upper blacksmith shop about 3,100
bushels of coal. In June, 1862, I employed &eorge Lott to erect a blacksmith
shop, dwelling-house, root-house, and to make 2,500 bushels of coal, at Big
Stone lake, and also to cut and put up about 50 tons of hay; and I had also
planted by Mr. Givens, in the spring, about seven acres of potatoes and other
vegetables for seed for the Sissitons, and to supply the blacksmith whom I pro-
posed to eend them, and had purchased tools and iron to supply the shop.

Mr. Lott had nearly completed his work, when he and his hands, on the 21st
of August, were attacked by the Indians, and all but one killed.

With all the material for house-building thus on hand, or clearly in prospeect,
I felt safe in commencing to erect the dwelling-houses proposed, and I bad ac-
cordingly made arrangements with a contractor to commence work upon them
as soon as the details could be settled, and a written contract entered into with
the consent of the superintendent of Indian affairs.

The department carpenters were engaged, so far as their time would permit,
in erecting and in aiding the Indians to erect dwelling-houses during the sum-
mer of 1862, and up to the time of the outbreak.

In the month of June, 1862, being well aware of the influence exerted by
Little Crow over the Blanket Indians, and by his plausibility led to believe that
he intended to act in good faith, I promised to build him a good brick house,
provided that he would agree to aid me in bringing round the idle young men
to habits of industry and civilization, and that he would abandon the leadership
of the Blanket Indians, and become a “white man.” This being well under-
stood, as I thought, I directed Mr. Nairn, the carpenter of the Lower Sioux, to
make out the plan and estimates for Crow’s house, and to proceed at once to
make the window and door frames, and to prepare the lumber nccessary for the
building, and ordered the teamsters to dcliver the necessary amount of bricks as
soon as possible. Little Crow agreed to dig the cellar, and haul the nccessary
lumber, both of which he had commenced. The carpenter had nearly com-
pleted his partof the work, and the brick were being promptly delivered, at the
time of the outbreak.

On the 15th day of August, 1862, only three days previous to the outbreak,
I had an interview with Little Crow, and he seemed to be well plcased and satis-
fied. Little, indecd, did I suspect at that time that he would be the leader of
the terrible outbreak of the 18th.

A resumé of the farmer work of the summer of 1862 will now be given:

In the spring there was planted for and by the Lower Sioux, of corn, 1,025
acres ; of potatoes, 260 acres; of turnips and rutabagas, GO acres; of wheat,
(s mew trial,) 12 acres; and large quantities of beans, gm, beets, pumpkins,
squashes, and other ficld and garden vegetables. And for and by the Upper
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Sioux, of corn, 1,110 acres; of potatoes, 300 acres; of turnips and rutabagas,
90 acres; of wheat, 12 acres; and field and garden vegetables in proportion.

These crops were well attended, ploughed, hoed, and weeded, and, a few days
prior to the outbreak, promised as fair a yield as any crops which I ever saw ;
and this was the common testimcny of all who saw them.

The prospective yicld was a matter of speculation and remark, and I put my
estimate at the lowest I heard made. It is, corn, 25 bushels; potatogs, 125
bushels ; turnips and rutabagas, 225 bushels; and wheat, 20 bushels per acre.

This estimate would, then, give us for the Lower Sioux, of corn, 25,625 bushels ;
of potatoes, 32,500 bushels ; of turnips and rutabagas, 13,500 bushels; of wheat,
240 bushels; and for the Upper Sioux, of corn, 27,750 bushels; of potatoes,
37,500 bushels; of turnips and rutabagas, 20,250 bushels; of wheat, 240 bushels.

The beans, peas, beets, pumpkins, &c., can only be estimated by stating that
they were planted in full proportion to, and were doing as well as, other crops
mentioned. The yield must have been good, but I have not suflicient data to
justify me in giving figures. 4

These crops had all been safely enclosed by fence, except those at Big Stone
lake, where fences were not needed, because the Indians there as yet had no
stock to destroy their crops. ’

Every necessary preparation had been made to have the Farmer Indians and
some of the Blanket Indians to cut and put up hay sufficient for their stock
during the winter, and they were busily engaged at this work when we were
stopped by the outbreak. I need hardly say that our hopes were high at the
prospects before us, nor need I relate my chagrin and mortification when, in a
moment, I found those high hopes blasted forever.

The almost impassable condition of the sloughs, brooks, and creeks between
the lower agency and Yellow Medicine induced me to have these spanned with
cheap, substantial, permanent bridges. Accordingly, I had the bridges erected,
and the road repaired to correspond. This done, and the road was rendered
one of the best in the State. There were eighteen of these bridges in all; sev-
enteen of them common bridges, made of first-rate oak timbers, covered with
good oak plank—all elevated above high-water mark. Ten of these averaged
22} feet, five of them 37 feet, and two were 50 feet in length. The eighteenth
was a truss bridge, 67 feet in length, over Wood lake creek. Here the battle
of Wood lake was fought, and this bridge was fired by the Indians and greatly
injured, though not destroyed.

The amount of transportation from the lower to the upper agency was so great,
that I deemed it a matter of the greatest importance that these bridges should
be built. It was an economical and highly useful outlay. Before the bridges
were built the cost of transportation was forty cents per hundred weight; and
after, only thirty cents; in(feed, offers were made to haul for twenty-five cents
per hundred weight. In addition to this, there would have been saved the in-
jury to teams, wagons, and harness, caused by miring in the sloughs, and an-
noying delays avoided. The bridges were finished about the first of August,
just prior to the outbreak, and hence were little used. They proved of great
ﬁse tg General Sibley’s expedition, and it is hoped will hereafter prove of general

enefit.

About the 25th of June, 1862, a number of the chiefs and headmen of the
Sissitons and Wah-pay-tons visited the agency and inquired about the pay-
ments—whether they were going to get any money, (as amey had been told, as
they alleged, that they would not be paid;) and if so, how much, and when.
I answered them that they would certainly be paid—exactly how much, I could
not say, but that it would be very nearly, if not quite, a full payment; that I
did not know when the payment would be made, but that I felt sure it could
not be made before the 20th of July. I advised them to go home, and admon-
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ished them not to come back again until I sent for them. I issued provisions,
powder and shot, and tobacco to them, and they departed.

In a few days after I went to the lower agency, and then spoke to the lower
Indians in regard to their payments. As they all lived within a few miles of
the agency, %itt,le was saig, as, when the money came, they could be called
together in a day. I remained about one weck there, visiting the farms and
plantings, and issued to the Indians a good supply of pork, flour, powder, shot,
and tobacco, and urged upon them the necessity of cutting and securing hay for
the winter, and of watching and keeping the birds from their corn. I left them
apparently satisfied, and arrived at Yellow Medicine on the 14th of July, and
found, to my surprise, that nearly all the upper Indians had arrived, and were
encamped about the agency. I inquired of them why they had come, and they
answered that they were afraid something was wrong ; they feared they would
not get their money, because white men had been telling them so. Being in
daily expectation of the arrival of the money, I determined to make the best of
it, and notified the superintendent of Indian affairs accordingly. How were over
4,000 annuity and over 1,000 Yanktonais Sioux, with nothing to eat, and en-
tirely dependent on me for supplies, to be provided for? I supplied them as
best I could, parsimoniously, indeed, from necessity it was; still I did all in my
power. Our atock was nearly used up, and still, on the 1st day of August, no
money had come. '

The Indians complained of starvation. T held back, in order to save the pro-
vigions, to the last moment. On the 4th of August, early in the morning, the
young men and soldiers, to the number of not less than four hundred mounted
and one hundred and fifty on foot, surprised and deceived the commander of the
troops on guard and surrounded the camp, and proceeded to the warehouse in a
boisterous manner, and, in sight of and within one hundred and fifty yards of
one hundred armed men, with two 12-pounder mountain howitzers, cut down the
door of the warehouse, shot down the American flag, and entered the building,
and before they could be stopped had carried over one hundred sacks of flour
from the warchouse, and were evidently bent on a general “ clearing out.”  The
roldiers, now recovered from their panic, came gallantly to our aid, entered the
warchouse, and took possesgion. The Indians all stood around, with their guns
loaded, cocked, and levclled. I spoke to them, and they consented to a *talk.”
The result was that they agreed, if I would give them plenty of pork and flour,
and issue to-them the annuity goods the next day, they would go away. Itold
them to go away, with enough to eat for twn days, and to send the chiefs and
headmen for a council the next day, unarmed and peaceably, and I would answer
them. They assented, and went to their camp. In the mean time I had sent
for Captain Marsh, the commandant of Fort Ridgley, who promptly arrived
carly in the morning of the next day. T laid the whole case before him, and
stated my plan. He agreed with me, and in the afternoon the Indians, unarmed,
and apparently peaceably disposed, came in, and we had a “talk,” and, in the
presence of Uaptain Marsh, Rcv. Mr. Riggs, and others, I agreed to issue the
annuity goods and a fixed amount of provisions, provided the Indians would ge
home and watch their corn, and wait for the payment until they were sent for.
They assented. I made, on the 6th, 7th, and 8th of August, the issues as agreed
upon, assisted by Captain Marsh, and by the 9th of August the Indians were
all gone, and on the 12th I had definite information that the Sissitons, who had
started on the 7th, had all arrived at Big Stone lake, and that the men were pre-
paring to go on a buffalo hunt, and that the women and children were to stay
and guard their crops. Thus this threatening and disagreeable event passed
off, but, as usual, without the punishment of a single Indian who had been en-
gaged in the attack on the warchouse. 'They should have been punished, but
they were not, and rimply because we had not the power to punish them, and
hence we had to adopt the same * sugar-plum * policy which had been go often
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adopted before with the Indians, and especially at the time of the Spirit Lake
massacre in 1857,

During this time an incident occurred which, though seemingly unimportant
in itsclf, deserves notice in this report.

The news of the repulzes which General McClellan had met with before
Richmond, his retreat, and the withdrawal of his army from the peninsula, of
the subsequent defcat of the army under Pope, ncar Washington, and of the
President’s call for 600,000 men, had just reached the agencics. .

The young men, Frenchmen, mixed-bloods, employés who were about to be
discharged by me, and sojourners to the number of about fifty good fighting
men, scemingly at the same moment expressed & wish to go to the war. It
was evident that a company could be raised, but who would organize and lead
them? Soon more than half a dozen leaders arose, and it was likely that the
whole number of these men willing to go would be eplit up into factions and
their service lost to the government. The men, under this state of affairs,
called upon me and said to me, “ If you will take charge of us we can all unite;
otherwise we cannot.” I saw the trouble, and, I think, appreciated the situa-
tion. I consulted with Captain Marsh, who was present, and the result of our
conference was, that I told thesc young men that they, by all means, ought to
go; that the country needed their services; and that if my services were needed
to unite them and get them off, I would cheerfully render them all the aid in
my power; that I would go with them to Fort Snelling, and even to Richmond,
or wherever else they might be ordered, if T could be relieved of my duties as
Sioux agent without injury to the public service; that I would see them safely
to Fort Snelling, the place of reudezvous, and there communicate with the gov-
ernment as to my course. On the 12th day of August some thirty men
enlisted at Yellow Medicine, and with them, on the 13th, I proceeded to Red
Wood. Some nincteen or twenty enlisted there on the 14th. I remained at
the lower agency, putting things in order, and on the afternoon of the 15th
we procceded to Fort Ridgley, where Captain Marsh furnished quarters and
rationg, and on the L6th, Captain Marsh having placed at our disposal sufficient
transportation, and detailed Sergeant (now Second Licutenant) McGren, com-
pany B, 5th regiment Minncsota volunteers, with four men to accompany us,
we started for New Ul to get some recruits who were there, and on the
morning of the 18th we started for, and arrived at St. Peter in the afternoon.
About sundown Mr. J. C. Dickinson arrived from the lower ageney in a state
of excitement bordering on insanity. First Lieutenant N. R. Culver, company
B, 5th Miunesota volunteers, who aecompanicd us on business conneeted with
the quartermaster’s department, Scrgeant McGren and myself, took him to a
room and gathered from him that there was trouble at the lower agency ; that the
Indians had broke out, and that Captain Marsh, with some inen, had started up
from the fort to the seene; but so confused, conflicting, and disconnected were
his statements, that at first we were in doubt what rcliauce to place on them.
However, after another and more careful examination, we were satisfied that
there was trouble sufficient to induce us to return, and we at onee called the
men togcther and broke the subject to them, and examined Dickinson before
them. Many of them doubted him, and most of them refused to return to the
fort. Satisfied myself that there was trouble, I despatched Wm. H. Shelley,
esquire, who accompanied us, as roon as possible, with a message to Governor
Ramsey, in which I informed the governor of the trouble, and requested him in
earnest terms to send at once at least two hundred men to Fort Ridgley.
Lieutenant Culver accompanied my despatch, with another calling for five
hundred men. We at once set about getting arms for”our men, now numbering
fifty-five in all, and learned that there were in St. Peter some fifty Unitec
States Harper’s Ferry muskets and accoutrements belonging to the State of
Minnesota. These we determined to secure, and finally, ail:ut midnight, after
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great trouble, by giving bonds, we obtained them and armed most of our men.
By this time the first fugitive from New Ulm, Mrs. Siter, an intelligent and
collected lady, had arrived, and we had an interview with her. She satisfied
us of the reality of the outbreak, and we at once communicated the facts to the
men, who, now thoroughly convinced, eagerly voluntcered to go back. We
promptly despatched another messenger, Captain Nelson Roberts, to the gov-
crnor, and proceeded to secure ammunition. After several vain cfforts we
finally succeeded in getting powder, lead, and buck-shot enough to make about
ten rounds of slug-shot cartridges, hesides some additional lead and powder.
The men all went to work to make the cartridges, and otherwise to prepare for
the expedition. The mules and horses were harnessed, and a *“cold bite”
ordered for the men, in order to start just as soon as we could get ready. It
was now four o’clock Tuesday morning; the mules were hitched up, and the
men nearly ready, when Sergeant Sturgis, of Captain Marsh’s company, arrived
from Fort Ridgley, with despatches from Lieutenant Gore, in command, con-
veying to us the sad news of the death of Captain Marsh, and the decimation,
yea, even destruction, of his command, at the battle of the lower Sioux ferry,
and giving details of the extent and character of the massacre and the resulting
panic. We secured him a fresh horse, and, with additional despatches, he was,
about five o’clock p. m,, started for St. Paul.

Now, at dawn OF day, being all ready, so far as was possible to be, we started
for the relief of the fort, with very slender hopes indecd. As soon as we had
g:'occeded a few miles from St. Peter, we began to meet the advance of the

gitive trains. As we went on, the crowd increased. The road was blocked
up with the excited erowd of flying men, women, and children ; on foot or horse-
back, or in wagons, they came. The scene was terribly painful and distressing.
As we kept on, the crowd inereased, and we were soon brought to a realization
of what had happened, and our imaginations pictured what was occurring. We
hastened on silently, even solemnly, towards the fort, with very little hope,
indecd, of saving it, as we had cvery reazon to fear that the savages had taken
it; since, after Captain Marsh’s surprise and dcfeat, there could not, so far as
we had any reason to belicve, be more than twenty-five effective men to defend
it. Still we went on, and, about five o’clock p. m., in a drenching rain, arrived
at the fort, and found the little garrison yet safe. The savages had not yet
attacked them, and it was well, yea, providential, that they had uot on the
srcvious night, as less than twenty-five men could have been mustered for their

efence. Lieutenant Shechan, with fifty men, had arrived a few hours previous
to us. Our men were at once placed upon duty, and, for the nine succeeding
days and nights they, with the remnant of Marsh’s men, Shehan’s detachment,
and a few fugitive citizens, and Sergeant Jones, with the big guns, were on
constant duty, with little or no rest, and no time to eat a single decent meal.
Like heroes they discharged their duties, and all contributed to defend the fort,
and patiently and anxiously awaited relief from below. It was a serious time.
When we arrived on Tucrday evening, over two hundred and fifty fugitives,
principally women and children, occupied the soldiers' quarters in the fort;
and these poor, forlorn creatures kept coming in daily unti(ll the number reached
nearly three hundred.

Tuesday night but few slept or rested. Time passed until Wednesday noon,
when a messenger, with a despatch from Jndge Flandrean, acting commandant
at New Ulm, arrived, and we learned of the attack of the Indians on that place
in force on Tuesday. Judge Flandreau expected another attack, and called for
aid in men, arms, and ammunition. Just as the commandant of the fort had
dictated a reply the pickets ran in; in a moment volley after volley, in quick
succession, was poured into the fort by about two hundred and fifty of the sav-
ages, who had stealthily crept upon us through the bush and ravines which com-
manded Fort Ridgley on its entire river side. "T'his was about half-past 2 o’clock
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.m. Until sundown these yelling, naked devils, hidden in the grass and weeds,

chind logs and piles, and, indeed, always under cover, kept shooting inces-
santly. At night they withdrew ; but the garrison all kept watch again that
night. '

g’l‘hux"sday and Thursday night passed quietly, and Friday till about 2 o’clock
p- m., when suddenly a volley from not less than four hundred Indians again
drove every man, and woman too, to their posts. These terrific volleys were
kept up with little cessation until dark, when the savages withdrew ; and, al-
though the fighting ceased, the watch was kept up.

On Saturday morning we saw the Indians, who had evidently stayed with us
during the night, on the river botfom, on their way towards New Ulm. We
watched them until they disappeared, and could follow their course for miles by
the fires which marked their path. While we all surmised where they were
going, yet most of us were glad that they were leaving us. That d:g they
attacked New Ulm in full force the second time, and although repulsed, they
succeeded in destroying most of the town and carrying off an immense quantity
of plunder, and on the next day the town, and, indeed, the whole county of
Brown, was evacuated. No other attack was made on the fort, yet continued
watch was kept to avoid surprise.

On Thursday morning, August 28, we were relieved by the advance of Col-
onel Sibley’s command, and now for the first time I lcarned of the escape and
safety of my family and friends from Yellow Medicine and Hazlewood, after &
painful and torturing suspense, to which death to me'would have been prefer-
able. My joyous surprise at receiving a letter from my wife, informing me of
her esacape and the safety of all, cannot be described, if, indeed, it can be im-
agined. )

General Sibley and his command arrived on the same day, and remained in
camp inactive until Sunday, the 31st of August, when a detachment of a com-
pany of mounted men, under Captain Andergon, and a company of infantry,
under Captain Grant, were sent out under the command of Major Joseph R.
Brown. Secveral citizens, among whom I was one, volunteered to go along.
The object of this expedition was to reconnoitre and bury the dead. On the
-first day we went as far as the mouth of Birch Coolie, opposite to, and about
one mile from, the lower ageney, and camped there in La Croix’s field for the
night, having buried all the bodies which we found on the way; among which
were Dr. P. P. Humphrey, the physician for the Lower Sioux, and the burned
and charred remains of his wife and child. Early on Monday morning we went
to the agency ferry and witnessed the scene of the massacre of Captain Marsh’s
men, and there buried some twenty dead bodics. The ferry being gone and the
river high, it was arranged that the mounted men should cross the river and go up
on the reservation side, and that Captain Grant’s company should go up on the.
State side, and that each should bury all the dead found ; that the mounted men
should recross and join Captain Grant’s company at the place of rendezvous—
the head of Birch Coolie, opposite to and about three miles northward from the
lower agency—that night. I, being mounted, crossed the river and proceeded
with the mounted men under Captain Anderson, Major Brown being with us.
After looking about the remains of the lower agency, and burying the dead
found there, we went up to Crow’s village, about five miles above, and there
found evidence of a very large Indian camp. We remained there about two
hours, examining matters, and were satisfied that the Indians had all gone from
there at least six days before. (They had been gone seven days, as we now
know.) ) .

Major Brown now ordered us to recross the river at the ferry nearly opposite
to Crow’s village, which we did late in the afternoon, still seeing no recent traces
of Indians. We now fell into the track of Captain Grant’s men, who were about
one hour in advance of us, and followed them up to Beaver creek, and about sun-
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down joined them at the place of rendezvous above mentioned, Birch Coolie.
Here we pitched our tents, partook of a hearty supper, and, being tired, retired
to rest, in the belief that no Indians werc within twenty miles of us. We all,
I think, slept soundly. In the morning, at the very earliest dawn, we were
awakened by a volley of some three huudred guns, at a distance of about 125
yards from us, aimed 80 as to rake our tents “fore and aft.”” This volley was
terrific, and something of its power may be inferred from the fact that it was
lLeard at Fort Ridgley, a distance of nearly fourteen miles. For more than three
hours this firing was kept up with scarcely an intermission, and in that fatal
three hours some twenty men were killed or mortally wounded, and some sixty
more or less severely wounded, and about seventy-five horses killed, or nearly
80. The Indian guns being mostly double-barrelled, there was a perfect rain of
lead upon our devoted little camp. The tents were perfectly riddled, and the
scene beggars description.

After the effect of the first “morning call” was somewhat over, at it we went
to “dig,” and dig we did, with one pick, three spades, a couple of old axes,
knives, bayonets, sticks, and everything that would dig. We went at it, and
by 4 o’clock p. m. had “holes enough in the ground” to protect us from the
shootiug at a distance. After this time I think we lost no men, and the Indians
never once charged on us. And here I may be permitted to remark that no
fears need be entertained that they will charge on any place where they think
there is danger. Well, to be brief, here we were kept from 4 o’clock a. m. of
"T'uesday until about 11 o’clock a. m. on Wednesday, (31 hours) without food
or water, with but thirty rounds to the man when we commenced, and with less
than five when we were relieved by General Sibley’s command, about 11 o’clock
on Wednesday morning. To sum up, we had about one hundred and sixty
men, including teamsters, to start with, and about one hundred horses. The
Indians, we have since léarned, had 349 men. We had killed and mortally
wounded 24 men, and wounded, as near as I can ascertain, 67 men. Every
horse we had was killed or wounded. I counted 97 horses “%kors de combat”
soon after we were relieved. We buried our dead (noble fellows) on that loue
prairic, and went back to Fort Ridgley sadder and, I think, wiser men than
when we started from it. At least, we knew more about Indians; perhaps as
much as our Longfcllows, Coopers, and our philanthropic friends of Pennsylvania
and Boston. At least, some of us claim the right to think so. This attack on us
happened, as we now know, in this wise: The Indians had been in camp at
Yellow Medicine for some time, and they had planned a compaign in this wise:

T'his party of 349 intended to get into General Sibley’s rear and divide into
two partics and make a simultaneous attack upon St. Pcter and Mankato, and
accidentally discovered our party just before we went into camp.

On the same day that we were relieved at Birch Coolie a war party of about
150, headed by Crow in person, made an attack upon the town of I-{utchinson.
and were repulsed, but succeeded in carrying off large quantities of plunder and
a few captives. About the same time an attack, with a large force, said to be
750, was made upon Fort Abercrombie. The fort was invested for several
days. This party, as is believed, was made of Cut-heads and young men from
the several northern Sissiton bands, aided by a few of the Wahpetons from
Lac qui Parle and Red Iron’s village, and a very few of the Lower Sioux.

Owing to the fact that the gallant little garrison were cooped up in the fort,
and could only defend it, their chances for observations were slight, and hence
the meagerness of definite information in regard to the attacking Indians.
Yrom the best information which I have been able to obtain, I am strongly in-
clined to the belief that at first the Big Stone lake Sissitons, as a body, did
not cuter into the outbreak. Indeed, it secms that they opposed it quite sirongly
for a time. Latan-kan-naj, (Standing Buffalo,) the leading and hereditary chicf
df the Sissitons, I am satisfied, resisted the outbreak as far as he was able, but he
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could not control his young men, who, I think, gencrally participated. Indeed,
unless they did, the large number attacking Fort Abercrombie cannot be ac-
counted for. And this leads me to the conclusion that, with few exceptions, and
these consisting of old men, some of the chiefs, and those of their immediate re-
lations whom they could control, all of the annuity Sioux were, to a greater or
less extent, enguged in the outbreak.

At the battle of Yellow Medicine or Wood lake there were present about 750
Indian nen, and at Fort Abererombie about 750.  Add to these 1,500 at least
200 who were scattered about in small marauding partics, and say about 250
who for different causes abstained, and we have nearly if not all the warriors
which can be mustcred by both the annuity and Yanktonais Sioux ordinarily.
Here it should be stated that none of those who participated at Wood lake
were at Abererombie, and vice versa.  After the battle of Birch Coolie, as soon
as I was able I started for St. Paul to meet Commissioner Dole, whom I had
learned was there, to consult with him as to my future action, and to have
arrangements made to pay fhe employds the arrcarages due them for work
promptly, as they had lost all they possessed, and been turned out of employ-
ment. The action of the Commissioner in this regard was prompt, noble, and
satisfactory, aud to Commissioner Dole the destitute cmployés (whose lives
were saved, and the widows and orphans of those who had been butchered) are
indebted for the promptness with which their just claims were met. Among
other things, he directed me to proceed at once to Yellow Medicine, with a view
to a general examination of the condition of affairs, and to remain there as long
as necessary. Accordingly, on the 19th day of Scptember, in company with
Colonel William Crooks, sixth regiment Minnesota volunteers, I started for the
reservations, and arrived at the battle-ground of Yellow Medicine or Wood lake
about dark on the day after the battle, and found that General Sibley’s command
had moved on. Where they were we did not know. We had as escort one
company of infantry and about twenty mounted men. We bivouacked on the
battle-ground, and early in the morning started, and in the afternoon overtook
Colonel Sibley’s command at Camp Release, opposite the mouth of the Chip-

cwa river, about twenty miles above Yellow Medicine and ten below Lac qui

arle, just at the moment the captive women and children were delivered to
Colonel Sibley. It was both a happy and a sad moment—one neverto be for-
gotten. T'wo hundred and scventy-scven persons were thus rescued, and it
must be permitted me to bear testimony to the wisdom and discretion exercised
in this part of the campaign by Colonel Sibley. From the start he made it his
prime objeet, above all things, to rescue those unfortunate captives. Of this
object he never for a moment lost sight, and from its pursuit nothing could
drive or divert him. His final success at Camp Release is worthy of more hon-
orable mention than if he bad won many a great battle. Here 1 remained,
getting what information I could, and aiding, under Colonel Sibley’s direction,
to sccure the stolen plunder, and in finding out and aiding to arrest the guilty
Indians who had surrendered.

On the 4th of October Colonel Sibley handed me a letter of instructions, a
copy of which I herewith transmit, marked A. As directed in this letter, I
proceeded to Yellow Medicine the same day with about 1,250 Indians and mixed-
bloods, of whoimn about 275 were men, the residue women and children. They
were all put to work as directed, and in a week we had gathered and housed
about 6,000 bushels of potatoes and 1,500 bushels of corn. We were thus en-
gaged when Captain Whitney, in command, received instructions from Colonel
Sibley to cause to be arrested, and safely detained in custody, all the Indian
and mixed-blood men, except such as, in the opinion of Agent Galbraith, were
“ above suspicion,” and to disarm all. This we did successfully, and with little
or no trouble, by the exercise of a justifiable picce of strategy, the details of
which I will not relate, lest it raise a cry of injustice to the poor Indian. ’
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Out of the whole number I designated forty-six Indian men, whom I regarded
as coming as near to Colonel Sibley’s standard as possible. Of all these I be-
lieve only four or five were tried and convicted, and only some seven of those
kept in confinement were acquitted. Here we remained in camp until the 12th
of October, when we were ordered to proceed to the lower agency with all the
Indians. We arrived there on the 15th day of October, General Sibley’s entire
command arriving at the same time. Here we remained until November 7,
ensaged principally in the trials of the indicted Indians and in sccuring food
and forage. On the day of November Geucral Sibley ordered Lieutenant
Colonel Marshall, seventh regiment Minnesota volunteers, with an escort of three
companies of infantry, to rcmove the uncondemned Indians and their wives and
families, and the families of the condemned and absent Indians, numbering in
all about 1,700 persons, to Fort Snelling, and directed me to accompany them.

On the 14th day of November we arrived at the fort, and the Indians were
placed in camp near the fort, where they still remain in charge of the military.

The same day I arrived in St. Paul, and held a short interview with Judge
Usher, the Assistant Sceretary of the Interior. I found that in my absence
Mr. Sinks, my clerk, had been engaged in collecting and arranging the agency
business, and had paid most of the employ¢s; all, indeed, whom he could settle
with in my abesence. I at once set about the work, which now devolved upon
me, and since then until now, with scarccly a moment’s intermission, I have
been engaged in collecting and arranging all the facts I could, in order to arrive
at some definite knowledge of the condition of affairs. The pressure upon me
has been great indecd, and, in addition to my direct and incidental official duties,
I have had to provide for my family, who were left entirely destitute—neither
house, clothing, or anything had they. Now, indeed, some order begins to ap-
pear out of the chaos left by the In(f;an raid, and I begin to sce when the end
will be. When I shall get there I hardly know—soon, I hope; the sooner |
the better—when, if not Lefore, it is to be hoped that some one of the many
&ood and honest men who have labored so hard to place upon me the blame of
the outbreak, and to justify the poor, wronged Indian in their mistaken butch-
cries and atrocities, will be placed in the incumbency of the superintendency
of the Sioux agency, to enjoy its emoluments and its pleasures, and to grow fat
on the spoils. Having thus given, as best I could, a narrative of the condition
of the affairs of the agency as they progressed up to and existed at the time of
the outbreak itsclf, I proceed to another more serious and much agitated subject :
“ What was the cause of the outbreak 7"’

And, first, on this subject it will be necessary to strip the Indian of the fili-
gree coloring of romance which has been thrown around him by sentimental
poets and love-sick novelists, and present him as he is, 2 matter of fact being;
for there is no man who knows Indians well who will disagree with me when
I state that the Indian of the poets and novelists is a pure myth. I kaow little
of other Indians except from history. Of the Sioux I know a little from obser-
vation. They are bigoted, barbarous and exceedingly superstitious. They
regrrd most of the vices as virtues. Theft, arson, rape and murder are among
them regarded as the means to distinction, and the young Indian from child-
hood is taught to regard killing as the highest of virtues. In their dances, and
at their feasts, the warriors recite their deedd of theft, pillage, and slaughter as
grecious things, and the highest, and indeed the only, ambition of a youn

rave is to sccure “the feather,” which is but a record of his having murdere
or participated in the murder of some human being, whether man, woman, or
child, it is immaterial; and, after he has secured his first *feather,” appetite
is whetted to increase the number in his cap, as an Indian brave is estimated
by the number of his feathers. Without *the feather” a young Indian gentle-
man i8 regarded as a squaw, and cannot get into society. Indeed, as a general
rule, be cannot get a wife. 1le is despised, derided, and treated with contumely
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by all. The head-dress filled with these feathers, and other insignia of blood,
is regarded as “wakan,” (sacred,) and no unhallowed hand, or woman, dare
touch it. So, indeed, it is with all their instrnments and evidences of crime.
“The feather” is the great goal of a Sioux Indian’s ambition. Often has it
been asked, “Why do the Sioux kill the Chippewas so; why do they go to
war 8o much?” and who has ever received any decided answer? The general
belief is that it is some old hereditary spite; but I feel safe in raying that no
Sioux Indian ever gave such a reason, or, if he did, he was instructed so to do
by some white man. When asked these questions they evade an answer, but,
on strict inquiry, you can learn the true reason, and it is nothing more nor less
than the ambition to kill somebody, and get «the feather.” There is no other
cause for it. There is no war or cause of war existing. “The feather” is the
cause of these malicious murders committed on the Chippewas, and to get “the
feather” they would just as soon kill anybody else as a Chippewa. They
kill Chippewas and Omahas because they have been neighbors, and because
they have been accustomed so to do from time immemorial. If they but dared,
they had rather kill whites, because they regard the whites as a greater people
than the Chippewas, and the more distinguished the victim the higher the char-
acter of the feather.

To kill the agent, superintendent, a captain, colonel, or general, the Secretary
of the Interior, or the President himself, would be a deed which would ennoble
the murderer and his relatives forever, and make them “wakan,” and the dis-
tinguished assassin of one of these dignitaries would be voted a whole tail of a
raven, a crow, or an eagle, according to the distinguished character of his vie-
tim. Hence, during the recent campaign, a crow’s tail was offered for the
devoted scalp of Brigadier General Sibley and for those under him, ten feathers
for one, five for another, and one for others, according to rank, by Little Crow.
As an instauce of the force of this desire to secure “the feather,” I need but
relate the sad tale of Ha-pink-pa. He was a “farmer Indian,” who resided in
a good brick house, near the agency, at Ycllow Medicine, and had been treated
with all the kindness and favor possible. He was, too, an elderly man, about
fifty years old; was somewhat indolent, and of little force of character. On
the night of the 18th of August, when the Indians had determined to kill the
whites and pillage the stores at Yellow Medicine, Ha-pink-pa, unlike Other
Day, Paul, Simon, and others, went with the crowd. The first attack was
made on the store of S. B. Garvie, esq., and Garvie was mortally wounded.
This Ha-pink-pa, although he did not fire a single shot, as I am well satisfied,
yet boasted that he had killed Garvie, and for this he was hanged at Mankato
last Friday; justly, too, as I think. Now, this boast was made to secure a
“feather,” and for nothing else.

Idleness, too, is idolized among the Sioux braves, and labor is regarded as a
debasing institution, only fit for squaws. And this code, and such consonant
codes of morals, is taught to the Indians from childbood by their medicine-men
and priests, and forms their code of “ancient customs.” By every means—by
the father, the mother, the medicine-man, the priest, the chief, and all—these
“ancient customs” are taught and inculcated by precept and example, and in-
grained into the young Indian from his first days of perception throughout his
life. 'These are his life, his existence, his religion, and not only is it taught and
believed that the commission of these crimes, and such as these, will insure him
tﬁmporal distinction, but his hopes for the future are founded on the same
theory.

In short, then, ignorance, indolence, filth, lust, vice, bigotry, superstition and
crime, make up the ancient customs of the Sioux Indians, and they adhere to
the code with a tenacity and stoicism indefinable. They are not brave in the
proper acceptation of the term; on the contrary, they are mostly inveterate
cowards. T'o sneak up, and, under the guise of friendship or the cover of some
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protecting thing, to kill a man, is their habit. A square, “up and down, face
to face fight,” the Sioux Indians, as a general rule, in my opinion, will not
make, unless it be with unarmed persons or greatly inferior numbers. To this
rule there are exceptions, I know, but they are few; and yet, for the main-
tenance of their ancient customs and superstitions, they will suffer torture, con-
tumely, and death, with a most remarkable stubbornness and stolidity, and with
all the appareut fortitude of a devoted Christian martyr. The medicine-man,
or sorcerer, and the Indian priest, by their deceptions, cheats, and incantations,
stimulated by the hope of ease, comfort, and gain, encourage the Indians in this
miserable, devilish system; and, being the recognized doctors of both body and
gpirit, they, to maintain their position and ascendancy, teach the Indians to be,
and in most instances succeed in keeping them, ignorant, deluded, superstitious,
and wicked creatures, degraded and brutal in all their habits and instincts, and
always prepared to do any bad thing. This is the Sioux Indian as he is.

If this be granted, then we have, I think, the true cause of the outbreak;
and I might be content to leave this part of the subject where the Rev. S. R.
Riggs, formerly thirty years a missionary among the Dakota or Sioux Indians,
has left it. He says t{e “devil”” caused the outbreak; and if ever the devil
was well represented on earth, he certainly is in the ancient religious and social
customs of the Sioux Indians. Their every precept, example, act, or deed is’
either purely diabolical or strongly tinctured with deviltry. But it may be per-
mitted me to elaborate a little on this subject, and to set forth at some length
my views on the same.

"The radical moving cause of the outbreak is, I am satisfied, the ingrained and
fixed hostility of the savage barbarian to reform, change, and civilization. As
in all barbarous communities in the history of the world, the same people have,
for the most part, resisted the encroachments of civilization upon their ancient
customs, so it i3 in the case before us; nor does it matter materially in what
shape civilization makes its attack. It may be either by Christianity, pure and
simple, through the messenger of the cross, or by some of the resulting agencies,
or necessary accompaniments or harbingers of Christianity. Hostile opposing
forces meet in conflict, and a war of social elements is the result—civilization
being aggressive, and barbarism stubbornly resistant. Sometimes, indeed, civil-
ization has achieved a bloody victory, but generally it has been otherwise.
Christianity itself, the true basis of civilization, has, in most instances, waded to
success through scas of blood. The Christian system was inaugurated by the
shedding of tﬁe blood not only of its divine founder, but of his disciples and
successors, and that, too, at the hands of the savage, the barbarian, and, worse,
Pharisaical bigot. Having said thus much, I state, as a settled fact in my mind,
that the encroachments of Christianity and its handmaid or daughter, civiliza-
tion, upon the habits and customs of the Sioux Indians, is the cause of the late
terrible Sioux outbreak. ‘L'here were, it is true, many immediate inciting causes,
which will be alluded to and stated hereafter, but they are all subsidiary to and
developments or incident to the great cause set forth. It may be said, and in-
deed it is true, that there is a wicked as well as a Christian civilization. That
such civilization is only true civilization perverted, a counterfeit, a base coin,
which could not pass but for the credit given to it by the original, will, it is be-
lieved, be admitted. And that the recent Sioux outbreak would have hap-

ened, at any rate, as a result, a fair consequence of the cause here stated, I
Es.vc no more doubt than I doubt that the existing great rebellion to overthrow
our government would have occurred had Mr. Lincoln never been elected Presi-
dent of the United States.

Now, a8 to the exciting or immediate causes of the outbreak. By my prede-
cessor a new and radical system was inaugurated, practically, and in its inaugu-
ration he wus aided by the Christian missionaries and by the government. 'The
treatics of 1858 were ostensibly made to carry this new system into effect.
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The theory, in substance, was to break up the community systcm whieh
obtained among the Sioux; weaken and destroy their tribal relations; individu-
alize them by giving each a separate home, and having them subgist by industry
—the sweat of their brows; till the soil; to make labor honorable and idleness
dishonorable; or, as it was expressed, in short, “make white men of them,” and
have them adopt the habits and customs of white men. This system, once inau-
gurated, it is self-evident was at war with their “ancient customs.” To be clear,
the habits and customs of white men are at war with the kabits and customs of the
Indians. The former are civilization, industry, thrift, economy; the latter, idle-
ness, superstition, and barbarism, and I have already stated with what tenacity
these savages cling to their habits and customs.

On the first day of June, 1861, when I entered upon the duties of my officc,
I found that the system had just been inaugurated. Some hundred families of
the annuity Sioux had become novitiates, and their relatives and friends secmed
to be favorably disposed to the new order of things. But I alzo found that
against these were arrayed over five thousand annuity Sioux besides, at least
three thousand Yanktonais, all inflamed by the most bitter, relentless, and dev-
ilish hostility.

At the very outset I thus found existing the war of the “scalp-locks and
blanket” against the “cut hair and breeches.” The pantaloons importuned me
to have them protected, and the blankets to go with them and break up the new
system. I saw, to some extent, the difficulty of the situation, but I determined
to continue, if in my power, the civilization system. To favor it, to aid and
build it up by every fair means, I advised, encouraged, and assisted these farmer
novitiates; in short, I sustained the policy inaugurated by my predecessor and
sustained and recommended by the government. I soon discovered that the
gystem could not be successful without a sufficient force to protect the «farmer’
from the hostility of the “blanket Indians.”

In addition to the natural hostility of the wild Indians to the “white men,”
I soon discovered that evil-disposed white men, and half-breeds in their in-
terest, were engaged in keeping up this hostility, and* in fomenting discontent.
I found that previous to my arrival the Indians had been industriously told that
on the arrival of the “new agent” the “dutchmen” (an opprobrious name for
the farmer Indians) would be “cleaned out,” and the blanket Indians would be
restored to special favor; that the new agent would break up the new system
and restore the old order of things. This vile story had its effect. While the
farmer Indians were satisfied with my course, the blanket Indians were disap-
pointed, because, a8 they said, I did everything for the “dutchmen.” Thus, in
the start, an ill feeling was engendered. Although my partiality to the « white’
party was looked upon with great jealousy, yet I kept on as best I could from
the commencement until the outbreak in aiding the work of civilization. Du-
ring my term, and up to the time of the outbreak, about one hundred and
seventy-five Indian men had their hair c6t, and had adopted the habits and
customs of white men.

For a time, indeed, my hopes were strong that civilization would soon be in
the ascendant But the increase of the civilization party and their evident
prosperity only tended to exasperate the Indians of the “ancient customs,” and
to widen the breach.

There, then, we had the hostile contending forces brought face to face—the
farmer Indians, the government, represented by the agents and employés, and
missionaries on the one side, and the blanket Indians and those who deemed it
their interest to take sides with them, and their priests, medicine-men, and sor-
cerers on the other. The latter were for the “ancient customs,” the former for
diametrically the opposite system. In this shape the radical cause of the out-
break had been developing itself prior to the outbreak, from the day of its
inauguration as a system until it exploded in the outbreak itself These imme.
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diate, exciting causes, or rather, off-shoots, incidents, results, fruits of the great
cause, are many; indeed, their name is legion, and such as I can call into rank
I shall enumerate. But whilst these are to be enumerated, it may be permitted
me to hope that the radical cause will not be forgotten or overlooked; and I am
bold to express this desirc, because ever since the outbreak the public journals
of the country, religious and secular, have tecmed with editorials by, and com-
munications from, “reliable individuals,” politicians, philanthropists, philoso-
phers, and hired penny-a-liners, mostly mistaken, and sometimes wilfully and
grossly false, giving the cause of the  Indian raid.”

The general tenor of these lucubrations has been that the Indian agents got
the annuity money in gold, kept it, and speculated on it by exchanging it for
greenbacks, at a premium of from fifteen to thirty per centum, as their fertile
and mercenary imaginations suggested, and some very pious fellow, doubtless
an officer in the army, says that the agent got these greenbacks and tendered
them to the poor Indians in lieu of gold, and sheds a quantity of crocodile tears
over the awful result.

To be short, and in justice to the truth of history, I state here, however in-
appropriate to an official report, that these stories are malicious and base false-
hoods. Prior to the Sioux outbreak the Sioux agent never had control of any
rtion whatever of the anaxity money of the Sioux Indians for the year 1862.
his whole series of lies about the speculation in the annuity funds of the Sioux
is nothing more nor less thun emanations from the brains of persons who have
measurcd the Sioux agent by their own standing, formed by their own personal
experience in the past, and have expressed what they would have done had they
but had the opportunity, and what, doubtless, they have done when opportunity
has been afforded them.

That Indians have been wronged and cheated by white men is doubtless true,
and it is equally true, too, that white men have been cheated by white men and
Indians too; but to publish to the world that this system of cheating, which ex-
ists in perfection alike on Wall street, upon Indian reservations, and in all inter-
mediate places, is the canse, and a ju:ti/gzble cauze, too, of the late Sioux Indian
outbreak ig, in my humble opinion, simply puerile, shallow, and silly. And for
the editors of distinguished and able journals, religious and secular, to publish to
the world slanders upon individual character, which, if true, would consign the
subject of them not only to the penitentiary, but to temporal and eternal infamy
and disgrace, on bare inference, or on the authority of some correspondent, who
writes what he is told to by some reliable old citizen of Saint Paul, is strange
indeed. I hope this reference to this subject here may be pardoned, if not
justified. .

1 shall now endeavor to set forth, as fairly as I can, some of what seems to
me to be the chief exciting causes of that discontent and dissatisfaction which

ed the outbreak.

From the best information which I have been able to obtain, it scems that at
the time of the treaties of Mendota and Traverse des Sioux, in the year 1851,
in order to induce the Indians to sign the treaties very liberal, if not extravagant,
promiscs were made to them—promises for the occasion, without regard to con-
sequences. What these promiscs were, and the extent of them, I shall not pre-
tend to state at length; it would be a long task. This I must say, however,
that the alleged non-compliance with "J;romises" made “at the treaty ”” was the
text and conclusion of nearly every Indian orator’s speech which I have had the
fortune to hear, (and I have heard not a few.) In substance, they recited that
at the treaty it was promised them that each one of them should have one
blanket at least every year, and plenty (ota) of pork, flour, and sugar to cat,
and that every hunter should have his gun and all the ammunition he wanted ;
that white men would be hired to do all their work, and that coffee, tea, tobacco,
hatchets, and such lkike, in large quantitics, would be furnished them, and they

v
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ghould have “all they wanted,” in addition to all of which tkings, money,
(maza ska,) to the amount of “$40,000” to the upper, and “ $46,000” to the
lower bands, would be paid to them every year, and that they should be taken
care of and never suffer from want any more. With such statements every
specch teemed, whether made to the agent, superintendent, or in their own
councils. Whether it was all true I do not pretend to say; but I do say that it
was a perpetual source of complaint, discontent, and annoyance. Hence, I con-
cluded that where there was so much smoke there must have been some fire. To
say the least, there must have been some serious misunderstanding somewhere ;
if such promises were made, it will be easy to see that no sufficient provision was
made to fulfil them, when I state that these treaty Indians number nearly 7,000
souls, and that the whole amount set apart for them annually is about $150,000,
890,000 of which is to be paid in money, (annuities.) I submit that the balance,
$60,000, will not go very far towards carrying out such magnificent promises,
and leave the subject, thus stated, as worthy of consideration among the “causes
of the outbreak.”

Again, in the year 1858, treaties were made between the Upper and Lower
Sioux and the government. By these treaties the Indians ceded to the United
States so much of their resérvations as were north of the Minnesota river: no
price was fized by the treaties; but the United States Senate subsequently, by
resolution, fixed the price at thirty cents per acre. This yielded to the lower
bands about $96,000, and to the upper about $240,000.

These treaties contain some wise provisions, and are apparently unexception-
able. Indeed, although imperfect in not going far enouglh, they are.in theory
pre-eminently civilization treaties. As they were interpreted by the whites and
understood by the Indians, the greatest good promised to flow from them ; yet
these apparently beneficent treaties proved to be the veriest of Pandora bozes
for mischief. And this, not because the treaties were wrong in themselves, but
because of the failure to provide the means to carry out the provisions of the
treaties, and the neglect to perform the promises made contemporaneous with, and
subsequent to, the execution and confirmation of these treaties.

These treaties could not be carried out without the power—a sufficient force—
to protect the “farmer” from the ¢“blanket Indians,” and such force was never
provided, and this, at first, in time of peace, and during the administration ot
my predecessor, because, as I learn, the matter was not fully comprehended by
the War Department, and since, because it was “hoped” that we could get
along with the Indians with a merely nominal force, in order that all the avail-
able men possible might be used to put down the * great rebellion, and save the
Union.” To this “hope,” or rather decision, I yielded, sorrowfully and reluc-
tantly, yet determined to stay at my post, do my duty, and abide the conse-

uences, still not yielding my fixed belief that it is easier to keep from rising
than to put down a rebellion or raid. May we all learn a lesson herefrom is my
sincere desire.

While these treaties were “making,” and after they were made, as I have
been informed, not only by the Indians, but by respectable white men, the
Indians were led to believe that, as a result of these treatics, the Lower Sioux
would be paid in cash “one hundred boxes of money,” (a box means $1,000,)
and the Upper Sioux “a heap,” (ota.) Yet the Lower Sioux fund was
exhausted to pay “debts,” and about two-thirds of the Upper Sioux fund was
applied to the same purpose. Whether these debts were just or unjust I know
not, but I do know that when the treatics were made, only 870,000 was set
apart to pay debts in each treaty, and out of that sum the Indians all claim that
only $60,000 was to be paid on debts, and that $60,000 was all claimed against
them and all they ever agreed to pay; and here I confess that the express lan-
guage of said treatics would seem to indicate that there is some ground for this
state of facts. What happened subsequently, what was done by the Indians or



REPORT OF THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR. 401

by the whites in the premises, I shall not pretend to relate in detail. Indeed,
this whole affair is 8o mixed up with apparent truth, doubtful and sometimes
exaggerated and ridiculous “hearsay,” and assertions and denials, that nothing
but a fair, strict, and searching investigation would justify any one in deciding
how it does stand.

This much, in justice, I must state : from the first day of my arrival upon the
reservation, up to the outbreak, this matter was a perpetual source of wrangling,
dissatisfaction, and bitter, ever-threatening complaints on the part of both the
upper and lower bands.

Special deputations visited me, and special councils were held. I advised,
expostulated, and within the bounds of truth did everything I could to keep dis-
satisfaction down, but “it would not down.” Whatever the cause, the fact was
there. Discontent, uneasiness, and complaints were common and wide-spread.
Here, again, there was a misunderstanding, and a serious one, too—too serious,
I often have thought, to be trifled with.

Again : the great rebellion, the war for the Union, has been a fruitful source
of trouble among the Sioux—exciting inquiry, restlessness, and uneasiness.
Half-breeds and others who could read the news kept telling the Indians all
kinds of exaggerated stories about the war. Sometimes that the niggers had
taken, or were about to take, Washington ; that the Great Father and the agent
were friends to these niggers; that the Great Father was whipped out, or, as they
generally expressed, c/caned out ; that the Indians would get no more money ;
that the niggers would take it, or that it would be used to pay for the war; that
all the people, except the old men and the women and children, were gone to
the war; and with such tales were their minds filled daily; and thus were they
kept in a perpetual ferment. The effeet of this upon the savage and supersti-
tious minds of the Indians can easily be imagined. 'The knowledge of the fact
that we were engaged in a great war, without any details, was of itsclf enough
to excite them, as any one who for a moment reflects must perceive. Often,
when 1 have upbraided them for going to war with their hereditary encmies,
the Chippewas, have they replied to me thus: Our Great Father, we know, has
always told us it was wrong to make war; now he is making war and killing a
great many; how is this? we don’t understand it. And Little Crow has often
eaid to me, “ When I arose this morning and looked towards the south, it seemed
to me that I could sec the smoke of the big guns and hear the war-whoop of
the contending soldiers.”

That there was any direct interference by rebel emissaries with the annuity
Indiaus I have no cvidence sufficient to assert with any degree of certainty;
yet I am clearly of the opinion that rebel sympathizers did all in their power
to create disaffection among the Indians in my agency, and 1 firmly believe that
time will bring out in full relief this fact not only, but more—much more. Let
us wait and see; “sufficient unto the day is the evil thereof.”

Owing to the state of the finances of the country, the government found it
inconvenient to send on the annwity money as carly as had been usual for some
four years ({n‘evimls; and, although the delay was only about four or five weeks,
yet the Indians did not understand it. "They were excited about it, and kept
inquiring why their money did not come; I aszured them that it would come,
and asked them to wait patiently.  They seemed content on this subject, and,
however unfortunate the delay may have been in furnishing a pretext for the
outbreak, yet I am well satistied that nobody but seribblers, senmps, and un-
mitigated scoundrels have cver alleged this delay as a eause of, or even a fair
pretext for, the outbreak. No Indians or half-breeds have ever #aid or thought
80, yet the delay, short as it was, was unfortunate in this: that it afforded ma-
terial to work upon, and to befog the public mind as to the real cnuse or causes
of the outbreak. As the misstatements on this question have been widely cireu-

lated, it may be permitted me here to state a few facts. There is no time fixed,
261
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by either law or treaty, for the Sioux annuity payments. Prior to the year 1857
the payment was made semi-annually—one half in the spring or early summer,
and the other half in the antumn. Superintendent Cullen changed this, (and,
I think, wisely,) by having but one time of payment each year, and that when
the grass affords good pasture. Last year (1861) the Lower Sioux were paid
on the 27th of June, and the Upper Sioux on the 15th of July. This year
(1862) the money did not leave St. Paul until the 17th day of August, and it
arrived at Fort Ridgley on the 1Sth day of August, the very day of the out-
break at the lower agency. There it remained during the siege. After the
siege was raised, it was concluded to postpone the payment till a more favor-
able season, and the money, in the original package, was started back to St.
Paul, in care of those who had brought it up, viz: C. W. Wykoff, Major Hatch,
J. C. Ramsey, A. J. Van Vorhees, and C. M. Dailey, esqs.  When it left New
York, when it arrived at St. Paul, and what happened to it in the interval, I do
not know. For information on this subject, T respectfully refer to J. J. Cisco,
esq., deputy treasurer, New York; to the Ixpress Company, and to C. W.
Thompson, esq., superintendent of Indian affairs, St. Paul. I unever saw the
money itself; I saw the keg at Fort Ridgley in which it was said to be. I
think it was there, and I believe it was gold. Neither I nor any other persons,
in the year 1862, offered any annuity money in the shape of gold, silver, green-
backs, or in the shape of anything else, to the Sioux of the Mississippi. I have
been a little particular in this regard, for what scem to me good. reasons, yet I
am somewhat grieved thus to spoil o many fine, pious, romantic, philanthropic,
lachrymose, and devilish publications on the subject of the cause of the raid—
dishonest agents, greenbacks, discount for gold, “Lo! the poor Indians,” and
others, with which, in lectures, speeches, letters, sermons, and editorials, the
public have been regaled for the last four months. These facts may take
“QOthello’s occupation’ away, but it cannot be helped. Such is life.
Grievances such as have been related, and numberless others akin to them,
were spoken of, recited, and chanted at their councils, dances, and feasts, to
such an extent that in their excitement, carly in Junc last, a secret organiza-
tion known as a soldiers’ lodge, (a well-known institution among the Dakotas,)
was formed by the young men and soldiers of the Lower Sioux, with the object,
as far as I was able to learn through spies and informers, of preventing the
traders from going to the pay-table, as had been their custom. Sinee the out-
break 1 have become satisfied that the real object of this lodge was to
adopt measures to “clean out’ all the white people at the time of payment.
One transaction, in connexion with the outbreak, deserves cspecial notice at
my hands, and this from the prominence given to it by persons high in authority,
and my own intimate reclation to it. 1t has been stated officially, and reitera-
ted in various forms, that immediatcly before the outbreak the Sioux agent
took away from the reservation every able-bodied man, and hence the outbreak.
This is said in regard to the company of recruits which I aided to collect and
start with me to Fort Snelling—the company known as the Renville Rangers—
a portion of the hounorable history of whom I have already given, together with
all the material facts in connexion with the origin, and progress, and my con-
nexion with the company. It only remains to be stated that the most of the
men composing this company were employds of the agency, who were about to
be discharged because their services could be safely and profitably dispensed
with, and the balance of the company was made up of a few traders’ clerks,
who had determined to go to the war anyhow, and half-breeds who had nothing
to do, or rather who did nothing. I state what I know, when 1 asseit that not
ten white men enlisted in the company who would not neceszarily have left the
reservation at any rate; and that, after the company had gone, there remained
upon the reservation over one hundred able-bodied white mcn, besides a large
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number of half-breeds, and all the Indians considered friendly. I submit these
facts.

T'here have been, in addition to those rclated, many other ‘causes of the
outbreak " uttered and published, but I caunot stop to notice them. There did
exist many complaints other than those mentioned—a few real and substantial,
and very many the most silly, frivolous, and false conceivable. He knows little
of the Sioux Indians who has not learned that to imagine, manufacture, and
improvise complaints is characteristic of the entire Sioux nation. This is a
staple article of their stock in trade. A volume not o poetical as “ Hiawatha,”
but quite as interesting, might be written on the subject. I might, by way of
illustration, give incidents, but I must forbear. Generally, however, it may be
stated that “confidence men” and “Jeremy Diddlers’ are common among the
Sioux, and that at least gome of them will lie, a few will cheat and steal, nearly
all are beggars, and treachery is not uuknown among them. Hence it is well to
take their storics of hunger, privation, and wrongs cum grano salis. Here I
venture the statement, that the Lower Sioux Indians, the very miscreantz who
started and kept up the outbreak, were then, and generally had been, better
supplied with both the necessaries of life and the means of obtaining a livelihood
than any equal number of our industrious frontier settlers.

One Sunday, the 17th day of August, A. D. 1862, at the_ village of Acton, in
the county of Meeker and State of Minnesota, four Lower Sioux Indians, of the
Sha-ka-pec’s band, part of a hunting party composed of fourteen, obtained
whiskey, became intoxicated, and killed six persons, including a man named
Jones, from whom it is alleged they obtained the whiskey. This was the im-
mediate, exciting cause of the outbreak—the spark which ignited the train lead-
ing to the magazine in which, for more than ten years, had beeu accumulating
the combustibles of discontent, dissatisfaction, mu{ premeditated devilment, and

“which, on Monday morning following, exploded with such fearful and terrific
violence. This Acton party at once returned to their village at Rice creek, on
the lower reservation, called a council of their immediate relatives, and said,
in substance, “we have killed white men, and, if caught, must die. Let us
unite now and kill the whites at the ageney. It is a good time to carry out our
original and long-cherished designs.  ‘T'he whites are all gone to the war except
the old men and the women and the children.  We can kill them all, take their
property and repossess oursclves of the land which we sold them and occupy it.”
This harangue and others like it had their desired effect. About twenty wairiors
at once united into a war party, and started for Redwood creck and towards the
agency. As they proceeded they were joined by the warriors of the bands of
Sha-ko-pee, Little (grow, Black Dog or Big Eagle, Blue Earth, and Passing
Hail, all ripe for the work proposed. These bands all had their villages and
plantings above the lower agency, from four to ten miles therefrom, and most of
their young men and soldiers belonged to the soldiers’ lodge.

By daylight on Monday morning, the 18th of August, this war party, now
increased to about two hundred soldiers, armed, and ficree for the fray, procceded
to the lower agency, having sent messengers to the bands of Saopi, Wabaxha,
Wakuta, Late-Comedu, and Husha-gha, who resided about and below the ageney,
informing them of the purpose formed, and asking and ordering them to join the
war party forthwith, on pain of being punished even to death in case of refusal.
Many of these latter bands, especially the older men and the chiefs, were farmer
Indians and supposed to be friendly to the whites, (and this was generally so;)
hence the orders and the threats. As soon as the news of the uprixing spread,
the young men of thesc bands rushed up to the agency and, excited, joined the
war party, now being momentarily augmented in numbers and stiffencd up with
courage and resolution. Little Crow, always cunning, without principle, itch-
ing for popularity, power, and domain, at once struck out into the current and
(most of the other chiefs hesitating) became the leader of this now formidable
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band of warriors. Many of the chiefs, older men, and farmer Indians remon
strated and even protested, but all wag in vain.  “The dic was cast.” Mad-
ness ruled the hour.  About six o’clock on this sad and eventful Monday morn-
ing the work of death and devastation began by an attack on the trading post
of Stewart B. Garvie, known as Myrick’s; it immediately spread to the other
stores, and sooun reached the government stables, warehouses, shops, and dwell-
ings.  The people, panic-stricken, fled in all directions ; many were shot or cap-
tured; the rest cscaped, leaving all they bad behind. Now the houses, stores,
and shops were plundered and committed to the flames, and the Indian fiends
held high carnival over the ruins. T'hus,was the Sioux outbreak of the year
1862 inaugurated. In the beginning it was the intention of Crow to make regular
war after the manner of white men, but his “braves,” having tasted of blood
and plunder, became wild and unmanageable, and again yielded to the popular
current, and Crow’s war degencrated into a savage, barbarous, and inhuman
massacre, not exceeded in atrocity by any similar outbreak of modern times.
Blood and plunder united the Lower Sioux, and the reports of their suc-
cess reaching the Wah-pay-tons and Lower Sissitons on Monday afternoon,
they, too, although divided in council, to the number of about one hundred and
fifty, decided to go into the fight. About two o’colck a. m. on Tuesday, the
19th of August, they attacked the store of Stewart B. Garvie, known as
Myrick’s, mortally wounded Mr. Garvie, the proprictor, and severely wounded
a young man named Patwell; all the rest of the traders fled and escaped. The
suddenness of the outbreak scems to have taken these Upper Sioux by sur-
prise; they seemed to have no concert of action, and acted as if intent on plunder
rather than to take life.

Iriendly Indians, and at least onc half-breed, Joseph La Frombois, gave
timely warning to the whites at Yellow Medicine and Hazelwood mission.  The,
employds of the agency, with their families, the agent’s family, (a wife, three
children, and two young ladics,) and other persons, making, in all, twenty-two
men and forty women and children, got together during the night in the agency
dwelling and warchouse, at first determined to remain and defend themselves.
From this course they were dissuaded by that Christian hero, John Other-Day,
(Ampa-tu-to-kecha.) By his advice, and under his guidance, the entire party,
sixty-two in all, at carly dawn on T'uesday morning, the 19th of August, 1862,
left the agency with four wagons and onc single carriage, taking nothing with
them but a scanty covering of clothing and a few crackers, led by the noble
Other-Day, they struck out on the naked prairie, literally placing their lives in
this faithful creature’s hands, and- guided by him, and kim alone, after in-
tense suffering and privation, they reached Shakopee on Friday, the 22d of
August, Other-Day never leaving them for an instant; and this Other-Day is a
pure, full-blooded Indian, and was, not long since, one of the wildest and fiercest
of his race. Door, noble fellow, must he, too, be ostracised and suffer for the
sins of his nation? I commend him to the care of a just God and a liberal gov-
crnment, and, not only him, but others who did likewise.

The same night the families of the Reverend Stephen R. Riggs and of the
Reverend Dr. T. 8. Williamson, the devoted missionaries and teachers, aszistants,
and sojourners connected with the old Dakota mission, numbering in all forty-
five souls, having been warned and aided by friendly Indiaus, escaped, barely
saving their lives, and, after wandering on the bleak prairie and suffering all
sorts of hardship, arrived safely at the eettlements on the 24th day of August,
1862.

I could relate in detail the hair-breadth escapes of individuals aund families ;
how, for days aud nights, ranging from two days to eight weeks, men, delicate
women, and little children, sometimes wounded, almost in a state of nudity, and
without food other than what they could gatlier, wandered, they knew not
where, until perchance they were picked up accidentally, mirived at some place
of safcty, or wearicd, worn out, exhansted, dropped down and died. But for-
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bear. I was there, and am a Witness to these heartrending occurrences; I turn
away from them; let some other pen than mine record them.

Monday and luesdfty, August 18 and 19, 1862, were days of torture, car-
nage, desolation, and blood—sad days and gloomy for the Minnesota frontier.

The savages, now stimulated with their successes, were fieree and jubilant ;
small partios of six or seven, ten or twenty, spread or deployed out among the
frontier settlements in all directions. The men were killed, the women taken
captive, and the children, when not killed, left to their fate. The houses and
barns were burned and the cattle driven off by these small partics sent out for
this special purpose.

These were the foraging parties of Crow’s army. Large war parties, num-
bering from one hundred to four hundred, went to Fort Ridgley, New Ulm, and
the “Bl'—" Woods,” and, in their mode, mad etheir attacks on those places.  But
I desive it to be understood that these small foraging parties and the larger
war parties were constituent parts of one design : they cannot and should not be
separated.  The savages engaged in the one are as guilly as those engaged in
the other. Fort Abercrombie was also invested and attarked.

The peaceful and industrious frontier people, unarmed and engaged in their
peaceful avocations, panic-stricken, fled, abandoning their homes, and their crops
growing ripe for the reaper, in the swath, sheath, or stack. The panic was gen-
eral; a belt of country nearly, if not quite, two hundred miles in length, and, on
an average, fifty miles wide, was entirely abandoned, and as the news spread
the balance of the State of Minnesota and the fronticrs of Wisconsin and Iowa
were justly alarmed. What were, a few days before, prosperous frontier settle-
ments were now seenes of disturbance, desolation, ruin, and death.  Our neigh-
bor—young sister Dakota—has, too, suffered her full share. Young and weak
though she is, yet her people are “bone of our bone and flesh of our flesh;”
and they have been killed, captured, and left desolate.

The real value of the property destroyed or abandoned, as the immediate re-
sult of the raid, has not yet been ascertained, nor, indeed, can it be for some
time to come. DBut I believe I very-mearly approximate the truth when I set
it down at two millions of dollars; indecd, the data in my possession would jus-
tify me in placing it at a higher figure; and this does not include the losses on
the reservations of Indian trust property.

What the result and losses will amount to I cannot now, if indeed it ever can
be estimated. It cannot be estimated in dollars and cents.  When the matter
has passed into history, the impartial historian may make a just estimate, but
the time is not yet. In this regard very much, yea, in a great measure, every-
thing depends upon the action of government. If the sufferers are promptly
compensated, the Indians removed, and the fronticr secured against the reason-
able probability of future raid of the kind, then the effects of the outbreak
will soon comparatively disappear, and the frontier will, in a short time, resume
ita wonted prosperity; new settlements of hardy and industrious pioneers will
be mud('. and education, civilization, and religion, will, with “the star of em-
pire,” westward make their way, and all will be well.  On the contrary, if there

" arce hesitancy and delay, or neglect and abandonment of the policy indicated,
the results can only be 1magmed

I now deem it proper to give an account of the deﬂtructlon of property upon
the reservations, and in this I shall be as particular as the limits of this report
will allow—not #o particular as I would desire—but sufliciently so to convey a
clear, general idea of the matter.

All the dwelling-houses, (except two Indian houses,) storcs, mills, shops, and
other buildings, with their contents and the tools, implements, ‘and utensils upon
the upper reservation were cither destroyed or rendered useless,  After u care-
ful estimate T place the loss sustained upon the upper reservation at the sum of
$425,000.
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On the lower reservation the stores, warchouses, shops, and dwellings of the
employés, with their contents, were destroyed entirely, and most of the inple-
ments and utensils, and some of the Indian houses, (eight, I belicve, worth,
with their contents, about $5,000,) were also destroyed or rendered uscless. The
mills and all the rext of the Indian dwellings were left comparatively unharmed
by the Indians.

The new stone warchouse, although burned out as far as it could be, needs
only an expenditure of a few hundred dollars to make it as good asever. I put
this loss at 8375,000. If, however, no attention is paid to the standing and un-
injured houses and mills, they, too, may be taken as destroycd—Ilost to all prac-
tical purposes—as I feel almost certain that such will be the case. I therefore
estimate the entire loss at the lower ageney, in buildings, goods, stock, lumber,
supplies, fenees, and crops, at not less than $500,000. Thus, on the reserva-
tions alone, we find a direct loss of about $1,000,000, and most of this is to be
placed to the account of the United States, as trustee for the Indians. Indeed,
I much doubt whether a million dollars will cover this loss.

An estimate of the quantity of the growing crops has already been given. I
now present an estimate of their value on the reservations. '

LOWER SIOUX. .
25,625 bushels corn, at 80 cents.....cvveerenanenaenennnnnn $20, 500

32, 500 bushels potatoes, at 50 cents. .. ...l a... 16, 250
13,500 bushels turnips, at 20 cents....... ... ... ... 3, 700
Beans, peas, pumpkins, squashes, and other vegetables.......... 8, 000

Total Lower SiouX....ut cuneeeireieeeoreeeanaaeanns 48, 450

UPPER SIOUX.

27,750 bushels corn, at $1... ... .ol 827, 750
37, 500 bushels potatoes, at 75 cents....... ... ... oL 28, 125
20, 250 bushels turnips, at 30 cents.............. ... ... 6,075
Beans, peas, pumpkins, squashes, and other vegetables.......... 9, 00V
Total Upper Sioux.....oovomiiiain .. 70, 950

Add Lower Sloux....cuiiiii it i i ieieea e 48, 450

119, 400

Here, then, we have the value of the crops in round numbers, say $120,000,
and I am satisfied, as I live, that this estimate is below the real cost of these
things on the reservations as things at present rate.

At the time of the outbreak the corn (being carly Indian corn) was just ripe
enough to invite the attacks of myriads of blackbirds and crows, which infest
the frontier, and it is safe to say that these birds devour full one-half of the
corn of the Lower Sioux, and perhaps as much of that of the Upper Sioux,
below Lac quj Parle. The Indians on Big Stone lake, and, for the most part,
at Lac qui Parle, had gathered and buried their corn before the outbreak effec-
tually reached them. Indeed, this is true of most of the Upper Sioux above
Hazelwood mission. :

The Lower Sioux and the Upper Sioux, below the mission, gathered none of
theirs, except what they used for “roasting ears” or green corn. It was aban-
doned to the birds and immense herds of cattle which Crow’s party had taken
from the scttlers on the fronticr. These herds were large—how large 1 cannot
state—but sufficiently large to destroy a large quantity of corn, and, with the
Indians, used up, to a considerable extent, potato crops.
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It is impossible to form an accurate estimate of the amount of crops on the
reservation when General Sibley’s command first crossed the Minnesota river,
on the 19th day of Scptember, A. D. 1862. I think it perfectly safe to state-
that at least one-third of the corn and more than three-fourths of the potatoes
remained at that time. On that day General Sibley had at least one thousand
four hundred and fifty, rank and file, besides his teamsters and camp followers,
who numbered, together, not less than one hundred and fifty men, and he must
then have had at least two hundred and fifty horses. A

After the battle of Wood lake he was re-enforced, on the 25th of September,
by not less than one hundred men, with their transportation teams. After that
time ‘“mounted men,” each one riding one horse and leading another, in com-
panies, began to gcatter in, uhtil, by the time he left Camp Release, General Sib-
ley must have had connected with his expedition not less than two thousand two
hundred men and gix hundred horses; and during his stay on the rescrvations,
from the 19th day of September until the 9th day of November, he must have
had, on an average, not less than one thousand cight hundred men and three
hundred and fifty horses connected with his expedition. In addition to these,
the camp of Indian prisoners which was taken on the 25th of September num-
bered not less, on an average, than one thousand seven hundred persons, with
about one hundred yoke of oxen and one hundred and twenty-five ponies and
horses.  All these remained on the reservations until the 9th day of Noven-
ber, in all, on an average, say, fifty days.

How much all these men, women, and children, horses, oxen, and ponies con-
sumed in these fifty days I know not; the “rank and file,” I know, were by
no means liberally supplied with rations; sometimes, yea, oftentimes, they had
little else to eat than potatoes and salt and parched corn, and very little salt at
that. The horses had little forage besides corn; and the Indians literally lived
on corn and potatoes and beef, foraged or got the best way we could getit. All
these. potatoes and most of this corn were gathered upon the reservations. How
much it was I know not, nor will anybody ever know.

1 state only my own conclusions when I assert that more than one-half of the
actual subsistence of the soldiers, teamsters, Indian prisones, horses, ponies, and
oxen connected with Colonel (now General) Sibley’s expedition, while he re-
mained on the reservations, were obtained from the Indian plantings.

Starving men, starving horses, hungry Indians, and hungry oxen “gobbled
up’’ the corn and potatoes at a great rate, when supplies and rations were out of
the question, away in “the rear.”” I leave this interesting subject for those
more apt than I in supplying armies in the field. Why not investigate it, so
that the books be balanced between the Interior and War Departments?

In justice to General Sibley, I must say that, situated as he was, it was ut-
terly impossible for him to have kept even an approximate account of the things
thus used. He did all in his power in this as well as every other respect.
‘With the means at his command he accomplished wonders.

On the 7th, 8th, 9th, and 10th of November, when the troops, Indians, and
everybody else abandoned the reservations, there was left of the crops on the
upper reservation below Big Stone lake about 4,000 bushels of potatoes and
little if any corn, and on the lower reservation about 15,000 bushels of potatoes
and 2,000 bushels of corn.  We have no definite accounts from Big Stone lake,
but doubtless the Indians gathered their crops there. ;

Much of the lumber was left uninjured at the lower agency, and the iron,
stecl, stores and ploughs there were very little damaged. 'The lumber and
stores were used n}lvantngcously by General Sibley’s command, and the gene-
ral’s direction that all property not needed by his command should be properly
cared for.

As I had of a reasonable neceseity to abandon the agency and place myself
n the care of the army, I felt and realized that 1 had little to say or do, and
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tried to say or do as little as possible, except to obey orders. I felt that I was
Sunctus offirio, and yiclded the practical control of affairs to Major General
Pope, by whose authority I expect every reasonable account will be given of
the property taken possession of by the army. Indeed, all the property taken
posscssion of by General Sibley was needed by his command to such an ex-
tent that he had to take it or allow his men to suffer, and 1 certainly would not,
even if I had believed that I had the power, have objected to the appropriation
of any property on the reservations to the usc and comfort of the gallant men
who so promptly rushed to arms at their country’s call. But what is property
lost in comparison with the precious lives extinguished, with the anguish, sorrow
and heart desolation entailed by this horrible outbreak ?

For a long time I have endeavored to secure an accurate account of the num-
ber of those killed and missing since the outbreak. Up to this time, strange as
it may scem, I am only able to furnish an approximate statement of the number.
I believe the following will prove very nearly correct:

CITIZENS MASSACRED.

In Renville county, including reservations.............ooooiiiiiats 221
In Dakota Territory, including Big Stone lake....................... 32
In Brown county, including Lake Shetek...... ... ... ... ... ... 204
In the other frontier counties. ... ... ... . . iiiiiilll. 187

Totali.c.cssscesscssncaisssse monnasmnsassnsinassnssinms 644

SOLDIERS KILLED IN BATTLE.

Lower Sioux ferry, Captain Marsh’s command....................... 24
Fort Ridgley and New Ulm......... ... . .. . ool 29
Birch Coolie.. ... .o e i - 23
Fort ‘Abercrombie, Acton, Forest City, Hutchison, and other places, in-
cluding Wood lake (4).......oooeemmm i 17
Motal. . . oo i i cssssescnecsasasacranmcacnsnsnsas 93
Add citizens. .- ..o oot i 644
Aggregate .. .t 737

Here, then, we have seven hundred and thirty-seven persons who, I am con-
vinced, have been killed by the Indians. More there may be, and I think there
are yet. I confine myself to the facts which I have; are they not enough?
Most, say two-thirds, of this number were full-grown men and boys over twelve
years of age, the rest women and children—the mother, the maiden, the little
boy or girl, and the innocent infant. Is it not enough? I shall now proceed
to consider the question, What shall be donc with the Sioux Indiang, and what
policy shall be adopted towards them? This, is indeed, a serious matter—one
which I approach not without scrious misgivings as to my ability to answer it,
so much of vital importance alike to the whites and the Indians being de-

endent upon its solution.

Whilst I must confine myself to the Sioux, I cannot keep out the fact, that
what is generally true of the Sioux is also generally true of all our other In-
dian tribes.

Since the outbreak countless theories have been advanced on this subject.
Extermination, massacre, banishment, torture, huddling together, killing with
small-pox, poison, and kindness, have all been proposed. Theories preposte-
rous, barbarous, inhuman, puerile, impracticable, thoughtless, have been ad-
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vanced and dilated upon. Some have been reasonable, and some fair, but none
just right. Ah! thereis the trouble, to get theright theory and the correct prac-
tice of it. Can I accomplish this? I much fear I cannot. I do wish that I
or some one else could. All I can hope to do is to approximate, to “try.”
When we look this subject in the face, I take it few will contend seriously that
the Sioux and all the other Indians can be “cxterminated” just now. Exter-
minate is a severe, a terrible word—inuch casier written than put into practical
operation. Then I leave “extermination.”” And may we not be careful to in-

uire whether it would be expedient, right or practicable, to place all the Sioux,

‘hippewas, and Winnebagoes, on Isle Rojal? Is not this, when undisguised,
a propozition for a “ Kilkenny cat” fight on an extensive scale? To one who
knows anything of the relations of the Siouz. and Chippewas, it does seem so.
It may be wise, sound, and even Christian, but I must confess my inability to
gec it in any such light. Nor can 1 see the wisdom of the one “Indian State”
theory, where all the Indians are to be congregated in one body politic. It is
a splendid ‘theory, but it will not work in practice; it is but the Isle Rojal
theory on a huge scale. If the thing were practicable, if the Indians could
ever all be “got there,” then I would stop to arguc its propriety; but as it
cannot be and never will be accomplished, I leave it with Isle Rojal and
‘ extermiration.”

But then the Indians must leave the State of Minnesota, says one. So say
I, cmphatically. The recent atrocities of the Sioux have so exasperated the
people of the State, as a body politic, that these pcople and the Sioux lndians
can never again exist together with safety or benefit to cither in the same State
limits. The Indians must be sent out and kept out of the State, or for yecars
and years to come there can be no peace or security. Yet, true as it is, the
“remnant” of thesc Sioux must go somewhere, and something must be done
for them. Now where shall they be sent? As we cannot send them out of the
United States, they must be scttled in some State or some to-be State of *the
Union.” They are not desirable neighbors to white people generally, and they
will prove little better to one set of whites than to another. Hence it is be-
lieveg, that the place where and the system which will conduce most effectually
to establish and keep up non-intercourse between the whites and the Indians,
under present circumstances, keeping in view the best interests of both, are
those which should be selected and adopted. The place to which the Sioux
ought to be sent should then be, as nearly as possible, an isolated one; not only
isolated now, but one which would promise to be easily kept isolated for as long
a time as Possible. Besides isolation, other conditions should attach to the lo-
cation. There should be suflicient arable land, wood, water, and pasturage,
and the place should, other things being equal, be as near to some source of
supplies, both for the Indians and necessary troops, as possible, and it should
be healthful. Is there such a place? 'T'here may be, and doubtless are, many ;
yet I know certainly of but one where all these conditions obtain to any rea-
sonable extent.

The Cotean des Prairie, or “the mountain,” is an elevation or swell of the
vast prairic which spreads out northward, westward, and southward, of Fort
Ridgley, toward lowa, the Rocky mountains, and the British possessions.
This prairie mountain is, on an average, about cighteen miles distant from and
westward of Big Stonc lake. From a point west of the foot of the Iake, and
nearly parallel thereto, it extends northward about thirty miles to the “head
of the Coteau;” this is, on an average, about twenty miles wide. Upon this end of
the Coteau there is n large quantity of good agricultural lands, and chains of
small lakes are literally scattered all over it. These lakes abound in fish, wild
fowls, and fur-bearing animals. Timber suflicient for practical purposes is dis-
tributed on the banks of these lakes, and in the innumerable “coolies” through
which flow numerous outlets of the lukes in their course into the Miuncsota,
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Red and Big Sioux rivers. This section of country is entirely surrounded by
prairie, and for hundreds of miles in every direction there is scarcely any timber.
In fact 1 know of no section of our prairie country less inviting to the emigrant
than the surroundings of this proposed Cotcau reservation, which would em-
brace some seven hundred square miles. A more healthful region I think no-
where cxists.

Here I would locate the remnant of the annuity Sioux of the Mississippi.
I say remnant, because of these six thousand six hundred annuity Sioux, less
than four thousand will ever be got together again on any reservation, and
these will be for the most part women and children. General Sibley has now
in his charge, including those condemned to be hanged, about 1,800; and of
those, exclusive of the convicts, there arc only sixty men, and those mostly old
ones; thus it will be scen that of this 1,800 there are over 1,500 women and
children, and only sixty men who can be permitted to go at large on a reserva-
tion. The remaining annuity Sioux, numberii.g some 4,800, are with the Yanc-
tonais and other nomadic bands, numbering 3,000 or 4,000, doubtless banded
together for hostile purposes, and must be caught before they are caged or cared
for. Until these are severely chastised, nothing can be done with them. They
will never deliver themselves up as prisoners; to use a vulgar expression, “that
is playced out.” They can now be taken by force or fine strategy alone. The
power of the government must be brought to bear upon them; they must be
whipped, coerced into obedience. After this is accomplished, few will be left to
put upon a reservation; many will be killed; more must perish from famine and
exposure, and the more desperate will flec and seck refuge on the plains or in
the mountains. Few except women and children can be captured; and if they
should be, they never should be allowed to cause trouble again. A very small
reservation should suffice for them.

Other and better locations may exist, but I know not of them. I simply re-
commend this one for consideration, firmly convinced that it has peculiar merits.
I submit it in good faith.

Let the Indians be located where you please, some policy must be adopted
toward them. What shall that policy be?

With all my feelings of exasperation against these savages, I cannot recom-
mend other than a humane policy; firm, strong, and even scwere it may be, yet,
allowing free scope for the exercigse of wise humanity, the policy should be
severely and strictly paternal in its general features, and adapted to the nature
and wants of the Indians.

The government should, then, at once abandon the treaty system, and in
licu thereof take charge of the Indians as wards or children, not as lunatics or
madmen, and compel the Indians to submit to the authority of the government.
Let the idea be abandoned in theory, as it has, indeed, been in fact, that
Indians are an independent sovereign nation. I'reat them just as we find them—
untutored, uncivilized barbarians, savages, yet as human beings not capable or
fit to manage their own affairs, but yet susceptible of being prepared by culture
and discipline to become in time, men, citizens, safe and good neighbors. Leta
siinple, clear, and well digested code of laws be adopted for their government,
in form and substance such as the laws regulating the relations of parent and
child, guardian and ward, or teacher and pupil, and, of course, the means and
the power to enforce these laws, and to punish their infractions, should be pro-
vided for, clse the laws would be of no utility. More accurately, they would
not be laws unless they were operative and of force.

T'his code of laws should require the Indian novice to disarm and keep dis-
armed till otherwise ordered ; to abstain totally from the iedicine, war, scalp,
and other barbarous, superstitious, and bloody dances; to eschew paint and
feathers; in short, to abandon and throw away the accursed paraphernalia of
Indian war, murder, superstition, jugglery, and bigotry; and, on the other
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hand, to adopt and practice the habits and customs of enlightened Christian
civilization; and this should be not only required and taught, but rigidly en-
forced.  T'o this end the pious missionary of the cross and the devoted teacher
should be encouraged, protected, and sustained, and good, reliable, and sufficient
force of troops should always be on hand to prevent resistance and enforce
obedience.  Unless this force is provided and kept on hand ready for any
emergencey, all the rest must go for naught.

Moral suasion, sugar-plums, and the like, may be used in time of peace, and,
on proper oceasions, to conciliate, to maintain fricndly relations, and all that;
but stern facts stare us in the face, and this Indian outbreak and the «great
rebellion” have taught, or are teaching us, that force and hard blows are some-
times needed to enforce obedience to law; to quell riots and ruppress rebellion.
How much the more and the better it would be to employ force to prevent all
these, 1 rubmit to others. “ A stitch in time saves nine,” and “in time of
peace prepare for war,” are trite maxims; but how little do we heed them in
practice. Had these been properly appreciated and acted upon, our Indian
raid might have been avoided, and the “ great rebellion” prevented. Here let
us learn a lesson for the future—let us always be prepared.

If the annuity Sioux, and such others as can be safely placed among them,
should be located on the north end of the Coteau, as recommended, then the
entire space between the reservation and the lake should be declared to be a
military reservation, and this reservation should extend over the lake a suffi-
cient distance to cover the coolics of timber on the eastern side of the lake, to
prevent settlements there, and to save the little timber there for the use of the
troops. Indeed, T would surround the proposed Indian by a military reserva-
tion. Military posts shounld then be established at such points as might be de-
termined upon by sound military authority, with a view to keep the Indians on
their reservations, and to keep the whites off the reservation for mutual pro-
tection. On this reservation, or such an one, I would place just as many Sioux
Indians as possible, provide them with the means iz kind, and tell them to till
the soil and earn their living by the sweat of their brows, and compel them to
do it. As a general rule, pay them no moncy. Break up entirely the old
trading system, alike injurious to the trader and the Indian, and have the
Indians furnished by the government with those things which they need for
their comfort and couvenience, as a reward for labor performed, and not other-
wise. Establish a suflicient number of schools, and compel them to send their
children to them. Many will work and send their children to school at the
outset; and when they find out that they must do it, all the rest will gradnally
come up to their duty with the use of little or no compulsion. Let the system
be voluntary to the greatest extent possible; but keep the force on hand, and
uge when necessary.

Some Indiang, indeed, such as Other Day, might even now be {wnnittod to
settle among the whites, as far as mutual safety is concerned; but I doubt
much its expediency.  Yet the fact that some of them have become thus chris-
tianized and civilized establishes the possibility of civilizing and christianizing
more of them, and fitting them to live among or in the neighborhood of white
men.  To accomplish this result, the preparation of the Indians for lite among
white men, whether he ever actually lives among them or not, is the objeet to
be attained. 'I'o accomplish this, time, labor, paticnce, and system are required.
Years, yea, centuries, it may take. Yet T think it can be done. I believe in it.
Bat while this is being done, let it be kept in mind that the Indian must be
deprived of the means of bringing irretrievable ruin upon himsclf, and of seri-
ously injuring the whites,

I am aware that this proposed system of disarming and forced good behavior
will meet with many objections; but I am satisfied that it is right, and hence I
recommend it.



412 REPORT OF THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR.

One or two things must, in my opinion, happen: cither the entire race must
become extinct, or they must assimilate with the whites, and become part of
the people, or, if nat part of the people, at least friends of the people. Unless
Indian nationality is abolished, the Indian race must, cre long, be known only
in history. Before the approach of the aggressive civilization of the age, unless
they become a part of it, they must disappear.

The whites, gy mercly keeping the Indians in a state of semi-national sub-
jection and protection, may overshadow them, and, after a few outbreaks or
raids, witness the last remnant of this people melt away as the last snow-flakes
melt away before the spring sun.  Yet I do believe that this great nation in its
strength can and will adopt a system which will, in the end, induce some of
them, yea, many, to be of us and among us—ecitizens, neighbors, and friends,
adopting our habits, speaking our language, and worshipping the God of our
Fathers.  Poor fellows! Whilst I hate and am exasperated at their recent
atrocities, yet I cannot but pity them when I reflect that God, our common
father, made them for some wise purpose only known to himself. While I
would be severe with them, yet I would be just, even generous.

While I thus plead for a humanc policy, I do not forget that the guilty
Indians should be punished. Those who have wantonly killed, massacred, and
tortured the whites, should not be permitted to live; and this not as a matter of
revenge or hate, but as a matter of stern justice. Whenever Indians on a large
or small scale commit crimes, they should be promptly punished. A failure to
do this heretofore has been very unfortunate, in my humble opinion. I will
give one instance only, although there are hundreds.  In the winter of the year
1857 the Sioux Indians massacred some fifty persons at Spirit lake, and took
several female captives. Yet not one of the Indians engaged in this massacre
was ever punished. )

It was all charged to Ink-pa-duta, and allowed to pass. The Indians inter-
preted this action, or rather non-action of the government, thus: «The whites
either have not the ability or the inclination to punish us—which, we are not
sure ; but we are not satisfied that they will not punish us.” Thus they rea-
soned, and kept on committing depredations, and were never punished. This
was all wrong. At the time of this® Spirit-luke massacre, the power of the
government to punish the guilty should have been exhibited and exercised.
Every guilty Indian should have been punished—should have suffered the just
penalty of his crimes. Had this been done, then I believe that our recent out-
break would never have occurred.

I sincerely hope that no false philanthropy or morbid sentimentalism will
ever cause a repetition of the course pursued by the government in regard to
the Spirit-lake massacre.

But I must close this long report. It is not what I had desired it should be;
but yet I hope it may do some good. With this hope I submit it, in its
present imperfeet and crude state.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
THOMAS J. GALBRAITH,
. Sioux Agent.

Crark W. THowmpsoN, Esq.,

Superintendent of Indian Affairs, St. Paul, Minnesota.

No. 145.
AGENCY o;' THE CHIPPEWAS OF LAKE SUPERIOR,
Bayfield, Wisconsin, October 1, 1863.

Sir: I have the honor to submit herewith my third annual report of the con-
dition of the Indiaus within this agency.





